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CADIZ INC.
PART I
ITEM 1. Business
This Form 10-K presents forward-looking statements with regard to financial projections, proposed transactions such as those concerning the further
development of our land and water assets, information or expectations about our business strategies, results of operations, products or markets, or otherwise
makes statements about future events. Such forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “intends”, “anticipates”, “believes”,
“estimates”, “projects”, “forecasts”, “expects”, “plans” and “proposes”. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking
statements are based on reasonable assumptions, there are a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from these
forward-looking statements. These include, among others, the cautionary statements under the caption “Risk Factors”, as well as other cautionary language
contained in this Form 10-K. These cautionary statements identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described
in the forward-looking statements. When considering forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K, you should keep in mind the cautionary statements
described above.

Overview
Our primary asset consists of 45,000 acres of land in three areas of eastern San Bernardino County, California. Virtually all of this land is
underlain by high-quality, naturally recharging groundwater resources, and is situated in proximity to the Colorado River and the Colorado River Aqueduct,
the major source of imported water for Southern California. Our main objective is to realize the highest and best use of these land and water resources in an
environmentally responsible way.
In 1993, we secured permits for up to 9,600 acres of agricultural development at our 35,000-acre property in the Cadiz Valley and the withdrawal of
more than one million acre-feet of groundwater from the underlying aquifer system. Since that time, we have maintained various levels of agricultural
development at the property and this development has provided our principal source of revenue. Although sustainable agricultural development is an
important and enduring component of our business, we believe that the long-term value of our assets can best be derived through the development of a
combination of water supply, water storage, and solar energy projects at our properties.
The primary factors that drive the value of water supply projects are continued population growth and increasing pressure on water supplies
throughout California. Southern California in particular now faces the prospect of long-term and systematic water supply shortages resulting from restrictions
on each of its three imported water sources: the State Water Project, the Colorado River and the Owens Valley. As a result of these restrictions, water agencies
must overcome significant projected supply deficiencies to meet existing and projected demands. For example, despite experiencing above-average rainfall in
each of the last two years, ongoing environmental and regulatory restrictions affecting California’s water supplies and infrastructure have forced many water
providers to limit water deliveries to their customers. Given that the present imbalance in annual supply and demand is projected to continue for many years
into the future, water providers are now evaluating new sources of supply as a method to off-set their existing shortages.
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Opportunities in the solar energy production market are being driven by a series of policy initiatives issued by the State of California and the United
States government. This includes California’s mandate to acquire 33% of the state’s electricity from renewable sources by 2020 and federal efforts to accelerate
renewable energy and transmission project development in the Mojave Desert. Energy companies, government agencies and environmental organizations are
actively working to identify suitable locations for solar energy development to meet future energy needs and have encouraged development on private lands.
As a result of these developments in the water and energy sectors, we plan to continue to pursue water supply, water storage and solar energy projects
at our properties. At present, our development efforts are primarily focused on the Cadiz Valley Water Conservation, Recovery and Storage Project (“Water
Project”), which involves the capture, delivery and storage of groundwater that is otherwise lost to evaporation. We believe that the ultimate implementation of
this Water Project will create the primary source of our future cash flow and, accordingly, our working capital requirements relate largely to the development
activities associated with this Water Project.

(a)

General Development of Business

We are a Delaware corporation formed in 1992 to act as the surviving corporation in a Delaware reincorporation merger with Pacific Agricultural
Holdings, Inc., a California corporation formed in 1983.

As part of our historical business strategy, we have conducted our land acquisition, water development activities, agricultural operations, and real
estate development initiatives to maximize the long-term value of our properties and future prospects. See “Narrative Description of Business” below.
Our initial focus was on the acquisition of land and the assembly of contiguous land holdings through property exchanges to prove the quantity and
quality of water resources in the Mojave Desert region of eastern San Bernardino County. We subsequently established agricultural operations on our
properties in the Cadiz Valley and sought to develop the water resources underlying that site.
In 1993, we secured permits for up to 9,600 acres of agricultural development in the Cadiz Valley and the withdrawal of more than one million acrefeet of groundwater from the underlying aquifer system. Once the agricultural development was underway, we also identified that the location, geology, and
hydrology of this property is uniquely suited for both agricultural development and the development of an aquifer storage, recovery, and dry-year supply
project to augment the water supplies available to Southern California.
In 1997, we entered into the first of a series of agreements with the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California (“Metropolitan”) to jointly
design, permit, and build such a project (the “Cadiz Project” or “Project”). Between 1997 and 2002, we and Metropolitan received substantially all of the
state and federal approvals required for the permits necessary to construct and operate the Project, including a Record of Decision (“ROD”) from the U.S.
Department of the Interior, which endorsed the Project and offered a right-of-way for construction of Project facilities. In October 2002, Metropolitan’s staff
brought the right-of-way matter before the Metropolitan Board of Directors. By a very narrow margin, the Metropolitan Board voted not to accept the right-ofway grant and not to proceed with the Project. Following Metropolitan’s decision, Cadiz began to pursue new partnerships and redesign the Project to meet the
changing needs of Southern California’s water providers.
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In September 2008, we secured a new right-of-way for the Project’s water conveyance pipeline by entering into a lease agreement with the Arizona & California
Railroad Company. The agreement allows Cadiz to utilize a portion of the railroad’s right-of-way for the Project water conveyance pipeline for a period up to

99 years.
In May 2009, we entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with the Natural Heritage Institute (“NHI”), a leading global environmental
organization committed to protecting aquatic ecosystems, to assist with our efforts to sustainably manage the development of our Cadiz/Fenner property. As
part of this “Green Compact”, we will follow stringent plans for groundwater management and habitat conservation, and create a groundwater monitoring
program for the Project.
In February 2010, we released new details of a comprehensive year-long study measuring the vast scale and recharge rate of the Cadiz aquifer
system. The study was conducted by internationally recognized environmental consulting firm CH2M HILL at the Project area utilizing new models produced
by the U.S. Geological Survey in 2006 and 2008. The work also included a series of new wells that were drilled to further understand the hydrology of the
basin. CH2M HILL and additional hydrology experts that have peer-reviewed the work confirmed the aquifer system can sustainably support the Water
Project. This body of additional science indicated that water that was not currently being put to beneficial use in the agricultural operations was being lost to
evaporation on dry lakes and the system could be actively managed to provide a sustainable annual supply of water without harm to the environment.
In June 2010, we entered into environmental cost-sharing and option agreements with the Santa Margarita Water District (“SMWD”). Later that
month, Three Valleys Municipal Water District (“TVMWD”) and Golden State Water Company (“Golden State”) signed similar agreements followed by
Suburban Water Systems (“Suburban”) in October 2010. As part of the agreements, the four water providers committed funds to an environmental review of
the Project and also were granted the right to acquire a firm annual supply of water at a predetermined formula competitive with their incremental cost of new
water. Additionally, the providers acquired options to storage rights in the Project that will allow them to manage their supplies to complement their other water
resources

The environmental review and permitting process for the Water Project is now underway. As the first agency with a discretionary decision on the
Project, SMWD has agreed to serve as the lead agency for this process. ESA Associates, a leading environmental consulting firm, was retained to prepare the
Water Project’s formal CEQA documentation. The initial documentation providing Notice of Preparation of a Draft EIR has been released by SMWD for
public review and comment.

(b)

Financial Information about Industry Segments

Our primary business is to acquire and develop land and water resources. Our agricultural operations are confined to limited farming activities at the
Cadiz Valley property. As a result, our financial results are reported in a single segment. See Consolidated Financial Statements. See also Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”.
3
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(c)

Narrative Description of Business

Our business strategy is the development of our landholdings for their highest and best uses. At present, our development activities include water
resource, agricultural and solar energy development.

Water Resource Development
Our portfolio of water resources is located in proximity to the Colorado River and the Colorado River Aqueduct (“CRA”), the principal source of
imported water for Southern California, and provides us with the opportunity to participate in a variety of water supply, water storage, and conservation
programs with public agencies and other partners.

The Cadiz Valley Water Conservation, Recovery and Storage Project
We own approximately 35,000 acres of land and the subsurface strata, inclusive of the unsaturated soils and appurtenant water rights in the Cadiz
and Fenner valleys of eastern San Bernardino County (the “Cadiz/Fenner Property”). The aquifer system underlying this property is naturally recharged by
precipitation (both rain and snow) within a watershed of approximately 1,300 square miles. See Item 2, “Properties – The Cadiz/Fenner Valley Property”.
The Cadiz Valley Water Conservation, Recovery and Storage Project (the “Water Project”) is designed to supply, capture and conserve billions of
gallons of renewable native groundwater currently being lost annually to evaporation from the aquifer system underlying our Cadiz/Fenner property. By
implementing established groundwater management practices, the Water Project will create a new, sustainable water supply for Project participants without
adversely impacting the aquifer system or the desert environment. The total quantity of groundwater to be recovered and conveyed to Project participants will
not exceed a long-term annual average of approximately 50,000 acre-feet per year. The Project also offers participants the ability to carry-over their annual
supply and store it in the groundwater basin from year to year, as well as approximately one million acre-feet of storage capacity that can be used to store
imported water.
Water Project facilities would include, among other things:

· High yield wells designed to efficiently recover available native groundwater from beneath the Cadiz Project area;
· A 44-mile conveyance pipeline to connect the well field to the CRA;
· A pumping plant to pump water through the conveyance pipeline from the CRA to the Project well-field;
· An energy source to provide power to the well-field, pipeline and pumping plant; and
4
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· Spreading basins, which are shallow settling ponds that will be configured to efficiently percolate water from the ground surface down to

the water table using subsurface storage capacity for the storage of water, if an imported water storage component of the project is ultimately
implemented.

In general, several elements are needed to implement such a project: (1) a pipeline right-of-way from the Colorado River Aqueduct to the Water Project
area; (2) storage and supply agreements with one or more public water agencies or private water utilities; (3) environmental permits; and (4) construction and
working capital financing. As described below, the first three elements have been progressed on a concurrent basis. The fourth is dependent on actions arising
from the completion of the first three.

(1) A Pipeline Right-of-Way from the Colorado River Aqueduct to the Water Project Area
In September 2008, we secured a right-of-way for the Water Project’s water conveyance pipeline by entering into a lease agreement with the Arizona &
California Railroad Company. The agreement allows for the use of a portion of the railroad’s right-of-way for a period up to 99 years to construct and operate
the Water Project’s water conveyance pipeline. The pipeline would be used to convey water between our Cadiz/Fenner property and the Colorado River
Aqueduct.

(2) Storage and Supply Agreements with One or More Public Water Agencies or Private Water Utilities
In June 2010, we entered into option and environmental cost sharing agreements with three water providers: Santa Margarita Water District
(“SMWD”), Golden State Water Company (a wholly-owned subsidiary of American States Water [NYSE: AWR]), and Three Valleys Municipal Water
District. The three water providers serve more than one million customers in cities throughout California’s San Bernardino, Riverside, Los Angeles, Orange
and Ventura Counties.

In September 2010, we also entered into option and environmental cost sharing agreements with Suburban Water Systems, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of SouthWest Water Company. Suburban Water Systems provides water to a population of approximately 300,000 people in a 42-square-mile
service area in California's Los Angeles and Orange counties.
Under the terms of the agreements with the four water providers, upon completion of the Water Project’s California Environmental Quality Act
(“CEQA”) review, each agency will have the right to acquire an annual supply of 5,000 acre-feet of water at a pre-determined formula competitive with their
incremental cost of new water. SMWD also was given the option to purchase an additional 10,000 acre-feet of water per year. In addition, the agencies have
options to acquire storage rights in the Water Project to allow them to manage their supplies to complement their other water resources.
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We continue to work with additional water providers interested in acquiring rights to the remaining annual supply expected to be conserved by the
Water Project and are in discussions with third parties regarding the imported storage aspect of this Project. We have also begun to develop an operating plan
for the Water Project that will manage the delivery of conserved water to the Project’s subscribers.

(3) Environmental Permits
In order to properly develop and quantify the sustainability of the Water Project, and prior to initiating the formal permitting process for the Water Project, we
commissioned internationally recognized environmental consulting firm CH2M HILL to complete a comprehensive study of the water resources at the Project
area. Following a year of analysis, CH2M HILL released its study of the aquifer system in February 2010. Utilizing new models produced by the U.S.
Geological Survey in 2006 and 2008, the study estimated the total groundwater in storage in the aquifer system to be between 17 and 34 million acre-feet, a
quantity on par with Lake Mead, the nation’s largest surface reservoir. The study also identified a renewable annual supply of native groundwater in the
aquifer system currently being lost to evaporation. CH2M HILL’s findings, which were peer reviewed by leading groundwater experts, confirmed that the
aquifer system could sustainably support the Water Project.

Further, and also prior to beginning the formal environmental permitting process, we entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with the Natural Heritage
Institute (“NHI”), a leading global environmental organization committed to protecting aquatic ecosystems, to assist with our efforts to sustainably manage the
development of our Cadiz/Fenner property. As part of this “Green Compact,” we will follow stringent plans for groundwater management and habitat
conservation, and create a groundwater management plan for the Water Project.

In June 2010, as discussed in (2), above, we entered into environmental cost sharing agreements with all participating water providers. The
environmental cost sharing agreements created a framework for funds to be committed by each participant to share in the costs associated with the ongoing
CEQA review work. SMWD has agreed to serve as the lead agency for the review process. In July 2010, ESA Associates, a leading environmental consulting
firm, was retained to prepare the formal CEQA documentation. In February 2011, SMWD issued a Notice of Preparation of a Draft Environmental Impact
Report (DEIR) formally commencing the public portion of the CEQA permitting process for the Water Project.

(4) Construction and Working Capital
Once the environmental review is concluded, we expect that we will complete economic agreements with the Water Project participants and make
arrangements for the construction phase of the Water Project. Construction would consist of well-field facilities at the Water Project site and a conveyance
pipeline extending approximately 44 miles along the right-of-way described in (1), above, from the well-field to the Colorado River Aqueduct.

Other Eastern Mojave Properties
Our second largest landholding is approximately 9,000 acres in the Piute Valley of eastern San Bernardino County. This landholding is located
approximately 15 miles from the resort community of Laughlin, Nevada, and about 12 miles from the Colorado River town of Needles, California. Extensive
hydrological studies, including the drilling and testing of a full-scale production well, have demonstrated that this landholding is underlain by high-quality
groundwater. The aquifer system underlying this property is naturally recharged by precipitation (both rain and snow) within a watershed of approximately
975 square miles. Discussions with potential partners with the objective of developing our Piute Valley assets are ongoing.
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Additionally, we own acreage located near Danby Dry Lake, approximately 30 miles southeast of our landholdings in the Cadiz and Fenner
valleys. The Danby Lake property is located approximately 10 miles north of the CRA. Initial hydrological studies indicate that it has excellent potential for a
water supply project.

Agricultural Development
Within the Cadiz/Fenner property, 9,600 acres have been zoned for agriculture. The infrastructure includes seven wells that are interconnected
within this acreage, with total annual production capacity of approximately 13,000 acre feet of water. Additionally, there are housing and kitchen facilities that
support up to 300 employees. The underlying groundwater, fertile soil, and desert temperatures are well suited for a wide variety of fruits and vegetables.

Permanent crops currently in commercial production include 160 acres of vineyards of certified organic, dried-on-the-vine raisins and 260 acres of
lemons. Both of these crops are farmed using sustainable agricultural practices.
Seasonal vegetable crops in 2010 included squash and beans. All seasonal vegetable crops are grown organically.

We currently derive our agricultural revenues through the sale of our products in bulk or through independent packing facilities. We incur all of the
costs necessary to produce and harvest our organic raisin crop. These raisins are then sold in bulk to a raisin processing facility. We also incur all of the
costs necessary to produce our lemon crop. Once harvested, the lemons are shipped in bulk to a packing and sales facility. In recent periods, our agricultural
revenues have declined largely due to the removal of 640 acres of vineyard during the years 2004 through 2007 as the vineyard reached the end of its
commercial life. In 2009, we entered into a lease agreement with a third party to replace the acreage that was taken out of production by developing up to an
additional 500 acres of lemon orchards. We expect to receive lease income once the new lemon orchards reach commercial production through a profit sharing
agreement within the lease. The first 40 acres of this new orchard were planted in March 2010.
Although we plan to maintain our agricultural development, revenues will continue to vary from year to year based on acres in development, crop
yields, and prices. Further, we do not believe that our agricultural revenues are likely to be material to our overall results of operations once we begin to receive
revenues from the Water Project.

Renewable Energy and Other Development Opportunities
In addition to the projects described above, we believe that our landholdings are suitable for other types of development, including solar energy
production. Located in an area with strong solar irradiation, proximity to existing utility corridors, appropriate topography, and access to water supplies, our
properties could provide an ideal setting for solar energy generation. Moreover, state, federal and local government entities, along with environmental
organizations, have issued compelling calls to increase the production of renewable energy to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and the consumption of
imported fossil fuels. Solar energy development on private land, particularly in the Mojave Desert region where our properties are located, is being encouraged
as an alternative to the use of federal desert lands.
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We believe that we can ease the demand for the use of federal lands for siting solar facilities in the Mojave Desert by providing solar development
opportunities on our significant, contiguous private landholdings. Up to 20,000 acres at our Cadiz/Fenner property could potentially be made available for
solar energy projects. We are presently in discussions with energy companies interested in utilizing our landholdings for various types of solar energy
development.

In addition to solar energy development, we believe that over the longer-term, the population of Southern California, Nevada, and Arizona will
continue to grow, and that, in time, the economics of commercial and residential development of our properties will become attractive.
We remain committed to the ongoing sustainable use of our land and water assets, and will continue to explore all opportunities for environmentallyresponsible development of these assets. We cannot predict with certainty which of these various opportunities will ultimately be utilized.

Seasonality
Our water resource development activities are not seasonal in nature.

Our farming operations are limited to the cultivation of lemons and grapes/raisins and spring and fall plantings of vegetables on the Cadiz Valley
properties. These operations are subject to the general seasonal trends that are characteristic of the agricultural industry.

Competition
We face competition for the acquisition, development and sale of our properties from a number of competitors. We may also face competition in the
development of water resources and siting of renewable energy facilities associated with our properties. Since California has scarce water resources and an
increasing demand for available water, we believe that location, price and reliability of delivery are the principal competitive factors affecting transfers of water
in California.

Employees
As of December 31, 2010, we employed 10 full-time employees (i.e. those individuals working more than 1,000 hours per year). We believe that our
employee relations are good.
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Regulation
Our operations are subject to varying degrees of federal, state and local laws and regulations. As we proceed with the development of our properties,
including the Water Project, we will be required to satisfy various regulatory authorities that we are in compliance with the laws, regulations and policies
enforced by such authorities. Groundwater development, and the export of surplus groundwater for sale to entities such as public water agencies, is subject to
regulation by specific existing statutes, in addition to general environmental statutes applicable to all development projects. Additionally, we must obtain a
variety of approvals and permits from state and federal governments with respect to issues that may include environmental issues, issues related to special
status species, issues related to the public trust, and others. Because of the discretionary nature of these approvals and concerns which may be raised by
various governmental officials, public interest groups and other interested parties during both the development and the approval process, our ability to develop
properties and realize income from our projects, including the Water Project, could be delayed, reduced or eliminated.

Access To Our Information
Our annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
and are available free of charge through our web site, www.cadizinc.com, as soon as reasonably practical after electronic filing of such material with the SEC.
Our SEC filings are also available to the public at the SEC website at www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document we file at the SEC’s public
reference room located at 100 F Street N.E., Washington D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the
public reference room.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors
Our business is subject to a number of risks, including those described below.

Our Development Activities Have Not Generated Significant Revenues
At present, our development activities include water resource, agricultural and solar energy development at our San Bernardino County properties. We have
not received significant revenues from our development activities to date and we do not know when, if ever, we will receive operating revenues sufficient to
offset the costs of our development activities. As a result, we continue to incur a net loss from operations.

We May Never Generate Significant Revenues or Become Profitable Unless We Are Able To Successfully Implement Programs To Develop Our
Land Assets and Related Water Resources
We do not know the terms, if any, upon which we may be able to proceed with our water and other development programs. Regardless of the form of
our water development programs, the circumstances under which supplies or storage of water can be developed and the profitability of any supply or storage
project are subject to significant uncertainties, including the risk of variable water supplies and changing water allocation priorities. Additional risks include
our ability to obtain all necessary regulatory approvals and permits, possible litigation by environmental or other groups, unforeseen technical difficulties,
general market conditions for water supplies, and the time needed to generate significant operating revenues from such programs after operations commence.
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The Development of Our Properties Is Heavily Regulated, Requires Governmental Approvals and Permits That Could Be Denied, and May
Have Competing Governmental Interests and Objectives
In developing our land assets and related water resources, we are subject to local, state, and federal statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations
concerning zoning, resource protection, environmental impacts, infrastructure design, subdivision of land, construction and similar matters. Our
development activities are subject to the risk of adverse interpretations or changes to U.S. federal, state and local laws, regulations and policies. Further, our
development activities require governmental approvals and permits. If such permits were to be denied or granted subject to unfavorable conditions or
restrictions, our ability to successfully implement our development programs would be adversely impacted.
The opposition of government officials may adversely affect our ability to obtain needed government approvals and permits upon satisfactory terms
in a timely manner. In this regard, federal government appropriations currently preclude spending for any proposal to store water for the purpose of export or
for any activities associated with the approval of rights-of-way on lands managed by the Needles Field Office of the Bureau of Land Management. As a result
of our right-of-way with the Arizona & California Railroad Company, we do not believe federal approval will be required to implement the Project; however,
even this may be subject to challenges.

A significant portion of our Cadiz/Fenner property is included in a study area as part of an ongoing Environmental Impact Statement (“EIS”) process for the
expansion of the Marine Corp Air Ground Combat Center in Twentynine Palms, California. There are currently six different alternatives being considered for
base expansion and our property, including portions of the Project area and agricultural operations, are included in one of the six different alternatives being
studied. This alternative, however, was not selected as the "Preferred Alternative" in the base expansion project's Draft Environmental Impact Statement
("DEIS") issued by the U.S. Department of the Navy in February 2011. As a result, we do not believe that our property will ultimately be impacted by
expansion of the base. In the event any of the Cadiz/Fenner Valley landholdings are included in the final expansion area, then we would be entitled to full fair
market value compensation for any property taken.

Additionally, the statutes, regulations and ordinances governing the approval processes provide third parties the opportunity to challenge proposed plans and
approvals. In California, third parties have the ability to file litigation challenging the approval of a project, which they usually do by alleging inadequate
disclosure and mitigation of the environmental impacts of the project. Opposition from environmental groups could cause delays and increase the costs of our
development efforts or preclude such development entirely. While we have worked with representatives of various environmental interests and agencies to
minimize and mitigate the impacts of our planned projects, certain groups may remain opposed to our development plans.
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Our Failure To Make Timely Payments of Principal and Interest on Our Indebtedness May Result in a Foreclosure on Our Assets
As of December 31, 2010, we had indebtedness outstanding to our senior secured lenders of approximately $51.412 million. Our assets have been put up as
collateral for this debt. If we cannot generate sufficient cash flow to make principal and interest payments on this indebtedness when due, or if we otherwise
fail to comply with the terms of agreements governing our indebtedness, we may default on our obligations. If we default on our obligations, our lenders may
sell off the assets that we have put up as collateral. This, in turn, would result in a cessation or sale of our operations.

The Conversion of Our Outstanding Senior Indebtedness into Common Stock Would Dilute the Percentage of Our Common Stock Held by
Current Stockholders
Our senior indebtedness is convertible into common stock at the election of our lenders. As of December 31, 2010, our senior indebtedness was
convertible into 1,765,773 shares of our common stock, an amount equal to approximately 11% of the number of fully-diluted shares of our common stock
outstanding as of that date. An election by our lenders to convert all or a portion of our senior secured indebtedness into common stock will dilute the
percentage of our common stock held by current stockholders.

We May Not Be Able To Obtain the Financing We Need To Implement Our Asset Development Programs
Based upon our current and anticipated usage of cash resources, we have sufficient funds to meet our expected working capital needs through fiscal
year 2011. We will continue to require additional working capital to meet our cash resource needs from that point forward and to continue to finance our
operations until such time as our asset development programs produce revenues. If we cannot raise needed funds, we might be forced to make substantial
reductions in our operating expenses, which could adversely affect our ability to implement our current business plan and ultimately our viability as a
company. We cannot assure you that our current lenders, or any other lenders, will give us additional credit should we seek it. If we are unable to obtain
additional credit, we may engage in further equity financings. Our ability to obtain equity financing will depend, among other things, on the status of our
asset development programs and general conditions in the capital markets at the time funding is sought. Although we currently expect our capital sources to be
sufficient to meet our near term liquidity needs, there can be no assurance that our liquidity requirements will continue to be satisfied. Any further equity
financings would result in the dilution of ownership interests of our current stockholders.

The Issuance of Equity Securities Under Management Equity Incentive Plans Will Impact Earnings
Our compensation programs for management emphasize long-term incentives, primarily through the issuance of equity securities and options to purchase
equity securities. It is expected that plans involving the issuance of shares, options, or both will be submitted from time to time to our stockholders for
approval. In the event that any such plans are approved and implemented, the issuance of shares and options under such plans may result in the dilution of
the ownership interest of other stockholders and will, under currently applicable accounting rules, result in a charge to earnings based on the value of our
common stock at the time of issue and the fair value of options at the time of their award. The expense would be recorded over the vesting period of each stock
and option grant.
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ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable at this time.

ITEM 2. Properties
Following is a description of our significant properties.

The Cadiz/Fenner Valley Property
Since 1983, we have acquired approximately 35,000 acres of largely contiguous land in the Cadiz and Fenner Valleys of eastern San Bernardino
County, California. This area is located approximately 30 miles north of the Colorado River Aqueduct (“CRA”). In 1984, we conducted investigations of the
feasibility of agricultural development of this land. These investigations confirmed the availability of high-quality groundwater in quantities appropriate for
agricultural development.
Additional independent geotechnical and engineering studies conducted since 1985 have confirmed that the Cadiz/Fenner property overlies an aquifer
system that is ideally suited for the conservation, recovery and delivery of indigenous groundwater as well as the storage of conserved or imported water, as
contemplated by the Water Project. See Item 1, “Business – Narrative Description of Business – Water Resource Development”.

In November 1993, the San Bernardino County Board of Supervisors unanimously approved a General Plan Amendment establishing an
agricultural land use designation for 9,600 acres of the property. This action also allows for the withdrawal of more than 1,000,000 acre-feet of groundwater
from the aquifer system underlying the property.
In February 2010, we released new details of a comprehensive year-long study measuring the vast scale and recharge rate of the Cadiz/Fenner aquifer
system. The study was conducted by internationally recognized environmental consulting firm CH2M HILL at the Project area utilizing new models produced
by the U.S. Geological Survey in 2006 and 2008. CH2M HILL and additional hydrology experts that have peer-reviewed the work confirmed the aquifer
system can sustainably support the Water Project.

Other Eastern Mojave Properties
We also own approximately 10,800 additional acres in the eastern Mojave Desert, including the Piute and Danby Dry Lake properties.
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Our second largest property consists of approximately 9,000 acres in the Piute Valley of eastern San Bernardino County. This landholding is located
approximately 15 miles from the resort community of Laughlin, Nevada, and about 12 miles from the Colorado River town of Needles, California. Extensive
hydrological studies, including the drilling and testing of a full-scale production well, have demonstrated that this landholding is underlain by high-quality
groundwater. The aquifer system underlying this property is naturally recharged by precipitation (both rain and snow) within a watershed of approximately
975 square miles. Discussions with potential partners have commenced with the objective of developing our Piute Valley assets.
Additionally, we own acreage located near Danby Dry Lake, approximately 30 miles southeast of our Cadiz/Fenner landholdings. Our Danby Dry
Lake property is located approximately 10 miles north of the Colorado River Aqueduct. Initial hydrological studies indicate that it has excellent potential for
water supply.

Executive Offices
We lease approximately 7,200 square feet of office space in Los Angeles, California for our executive offices. The lease terminates in October
2012. Current base rent under the lease is approximately $14,500 per month.

Cadiz Real Estate
In December 2003, we transferred substantially all of our assets (with the exception of our office sublease, certain office furniture and equipment and
any Sun World related assets) to Cadiz Real Estate LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Cadiz Real Estate”). We hold 100% of the equity interests of
Cadiz Real Estate, and therefore we continue to hold 100% beneficial ownership of the properties that we transferred to Cadiz Real Estate. The Board of
Managers of Cadiz Real Estate currently consists of two managers appointed by us.
Cadiz Real Estate is a co-obligor under our senior secured convertible term loan, for which assets of Cadiz Real Estate have been pledged as security.
Because the transfer of our properties to Cadiz Real Estate has no effect on our ultimate beneficial ownership of these properties, we refer throughout
this Report to properties owned of record either by Cadiz Real Estate or by us as “our” properties.

Debt Secured by Properties
Our assets have been pledged as collateral for $51.412 million of debt outstanding on December 31, 2010. Information regarding interest rates and
principal maturities is provided in Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings
There are no material pending legal proceedings to which we are a party or of which any of our property is the subject.

ITEM 4. (Removed and Reserved)
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PART II
ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and I ssuer Purchase of Equity Securities
Our common stock is currently traded on The NASDAQ Global Market ("NASDAQ") under the symbol "CDZI." The following table reflects
actual sales transactions for the dates that we were trading on NASDAQ, as reported by Bloomberg LP.

Low
Sales Price

High

Sales Price

Quarter Ended

2009:
March 31
June 30
September 30
December 31

$
$
$
$

8.20
9.98
11.86
12.13

$
$
$
$

7.51
9.37
11.92

$
$
$
$

12.80
12.45
10.27
12.50

$
$
$
$

12.50
11.41
9.71
12.14

11.44

2010:
March 31
June 30
September 30
December 31

On March 7, 2011, the high, low and last sales prices for the shares, as reported by Bloomberg, were $12.14, $11.50, and $11.57, respectively.
As of March 7, 2011, the number of stockholders of record of our common stock was 134.
To date, we have not paid a cash dividend on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Our
senior secured convertible term loan has covenants that prohibit the payment of dividends.
All securities sold by us during the three years ended December 31, 2010, which were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
have been previously reported in accordance with the requirements of Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE

The stock price performance graph below compares the cumulative total return of Cadiz common stock against the cumulative total return of the
Standard & Poor’s Small Cap 600 NASDAQ U.S. index and the Russell 2000 ® index for the past five fiscal years. The graph indicates a measurement point
of December 31, 2005, and assumes a $100 investment on such date in Cadiz common stock, the Standard & Poor’s Small Cap 600 and the Russell 2000 ®
indices. With respect to the payment of dividends, Cadiz has not paid any dividends on its common stock, but the Standard & Poor’s Small Cap 600 and
the Russell 2000 ® indices assume that all dividends were reinvested. The stock price performance graph shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by any
general statement incorporating by reference this annual report on Form 10-K into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except to the extent
that Cadiz specifically incorporates this graph by reference, and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under such acts.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data
The following selected financial data insofar as it relates to the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, 2008, 2007, and 2006, has been derived from
our audited financial statements. The information that follows should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto for the period ended December 31, 2010 included in Part IV of this Form 10-K. See also Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations".

($ in thousands, except for per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2010

Statement of Operations Data:
Total revenues
Net loss
Net loss applicable to common

$

2009

2007

2008

2006

1,023 $
(15,899 )

808 $
(14,399)

992 $
(15,909 )

$

(13,633)

426

614
(13,825 )

stock

$

(15,899 ) $

(14,399) $

(15,909 ) $

(13,633) $

(13,825 )

Per share:
Net loss (basic and diluted)

$

(1.16 ) $

(1.13) $

(1.32 ) $

(1.15) $

(1.21 )

Weighted-average common shares
outstanding

13,672

12,722

11,845

12,014

11,381

December 31,
2010

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets
Long-term debt

2009

$
$

48,936 $
44,403 $

Preferred stock, common stock
and additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

$
$

282,496 $
(281,550 ) $

Stockholders' equity

$

946 $

2007

2008

50,319
36,665

$
$

276,884 $
(265,651) $
11,233

$

2006

$
$

49,572
29,652

$
$

50,326
25,881

263,658 $
(251,252 ) $

254,102

$

245,322
(221,710 )

47,412
33,975

12,406

$

(235,343) $

18,759

$

23,612

Common shares issued and outstanding have increased from 11,330,463 in 2005 to 13,677,772 in 2010. The increase is primarily due to the
issuance of shares to investors in private placements, the issuance of shares to investors upon the conversion of preferred stock and warrant exercises, and the
issuance of shares to employees, vendors and lenders.
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

In connection with the "safe harbor" provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, the following discussion contains
trend analysis and other forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as "intends",
"anticipates", "believes", "estimates", "projects", "forecasts", "expects", "plans" and "proposes". Although we believe that the expectations reflected in
these forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, there are a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results
to differ materially from these forward-looking statements. These include, among others, our ability to maximize value from our land and water
resources and our ability to obtain new financings as needed to meet our ongoing working capital needs. See additional discussion under the heading
"Risk Factors” above.
Overview
Our primary asset consists of 45,000 acres of land in three areas of eastern San Bernardino County, California. Virtually all of this land is
underlain by high-quality, naturally recharging groundwater resources, and is situated in proximity to the Colorado River and the Colorado River Aqueduct,
the major source of imported water for Southern California. Our main objective is to realize the highest and best use of these land and water resources in an
environmentally responsible way.
In 1993, we secured permits for up to 9,600 acres of agricultural development at our 35,000-acre property in the Cadiz Valley and the withdrawal of
more than one million acre-feet of groundwater from the underlying aquifer system. Since that time, we have maintained various levels of agricultural
development at the property and this development has provided our principal source of revenue. Although sustainable agricultural development is an
important and enduring component of our business, we believe that the long-term value of our assets can best be derived through the development of a
combination of water supply, water storage, and solar energy projects at our properties.
The primary factors that drive the value of water supply projects are continued population growth and increasing pressure on water supplies
throughout California. Southern California in particular now faces the prospect of long-term and systematic water supply shortages resulting from restrictions
on each of its three imported water sources: the State Water Project, the Colorado River and the Owens Valley. As a result of these restrictions, water agencies
must overcome significant projected supply deficiencies to meet existing and projected demands. For example, despite experiencing above-average rainfall in
each of the last two years, ongoing environmental and regulatory restrictions affecting California’s water supplies and infrastructure have forced many water
providers to limit water deliveries to their customers. Given that the present imbalance in annual supply and demand is projected to continue for many years
into the future, water providers are now evaluating new sources of supply as a method to off-set their existing shortages.
Opportunities in the solar energy production market are being driven by a series of policy initiatives issued by the State of California and the United
States government. This includes California’s mandate to acquire 33% of the state’s electricity from renewable sources by 2020 and federal efforts to accelerate
renewable energy and transmission project development in the Mojave Desert. Energy companies, government agencies and environmental organizations are
actively working to identify suitable locations for solar energy development to meet future energy needs and have encouraged development on private lands.
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As a result of these developments in the water and energy sectors, we plan to continue to pursue water supply, water storage and solar energy projects
at our properties. At present, our development efforts are primarily focused on the Cadiz Valley Water Conservation, Recovery and Storage Project (“Water
Project”), which involves the capture, delivery and storage of groundwater that is otherwise lost to evaporation. We believe that the ultimate implementation of
this Water Project will create the primary source of our future cash flow and, accordingly, our working capital requirements relate largely to the development
activities associated with this Water Project.

Water Resource Development
The Water Project involves the capture, delivery and storage of groundwater that would otherwise be lost to evaporation. The Water Project would be
designed, constructed and operated in accordance with prudent groundwater management principles so as to maximize the reasonable and beneficial use of
groundwater, and avoid waste and harm to the environment or other consumptive users.
In general, several elements are needed to implement such a project: (1) a pipeline right-of-way from the Colorado River Aqueduct to the Water Project
area; (2) storage and supply agreements with one or more public water agencies or private water utilities; (3) environmental permits; and (4) construction and
working capital financing. As described below, the first three elements have been progressed on a concurrent basis. The fourth is dependent on actions arising
from the completion of the first three.

(1) A Pipeline Right-of-Way from the Colorado River Aqueduct to the Water Project Area
In September 2008, we secured a right-of-way for the Water Project’s water conveyance pipeline by entering into a lease agreement with the Arizona &
California Railroad Company. The agreement allows for the use of a portion of the railroad’s right-of-way for a period up to 99 years to construct and operate
the Water Project’s water conveyance pipeline. The pipeline would be used to convey water between our Cadiz/Fenner property and the Colorado River
Aqueduct.

(2) Storage and Supply Agreements with One or More Public Water Agencies or Private Water Utilities
In June 2010, we entered into option and environmental cost sharing agreements with three water providers: Santa Margarita Water District
(“SMWD”), Golden State Water Company (a wholly-owned subsidiary of American States Water [NYSE: AWR]) and Three Valleys Municipal Water
District. The three water providers serve more than one million customers in cities throughout California’s San Bernardino, Riverside, Los Angeles, Orange
and Ventura Counties.
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In September 2010, we also entered into option and environmental cost sharing agreements with Suburban Water Systems, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of SouthWest Water Company. Suburban Water Systems provides water to a population of approximately 300,000 people in a 42-square-mile
service area in California's Los Angeles and Orange counties.
Under the terms of the agreements with the four water providers, upon completion of the Water Project’s California Environmental Quality Act
(“CEQA”) review, each agency will have the right to acquire an annual supply of 5,000 acre-feet of water at a pre-determined formula competitive with their
incremental cost of new water. SMWD also was given the option to purchase an additional 10,000 acre-feet of water per year. In addition, the agencies have
options to acquire storage rights in the Water Project to allow them to manage their supplies to complement their other water resources. The option agreements
had no impact on our operations, financial position, or cash flows for the year-ended December 31, 2010.

We continue to work with additional water providers interested in acquiring rights to the remaining annual supply expected to be conserved by the
Water Project and are in discussions with third parties regarding the imported storage aspect of this Project. We have also begun to develop an operating plan
for the Water Project that will manage the delivery of conserved water to the Project’s subscribers.

(3) Environmental Permits
In order to properly develop and quantify the sustainability of the Water Project, and prior to initiating the formal permitting process for the Water Project, we
commissioned internationally recognized environmental consulting firm CH2M HILL to complete a comprehensive study of the water resources at the Project
area. Following a year of analysis, CH2M HILL released its study of the aquifer system in February 2010. Utilizing new models produced by the U.S.
Geological Survey in 2006 and 2008, the study estimated the total groundwater in storage in the aquifer system to be between 17 and 34 million acre-feet, a
quantity on par with Lake Mead, the nation’s largest surface reservoir. The study also identified a renewable annual supply of native groundwater in the
aquifer system currently being lost to evaporation. CH2M HILL’s findings, which were peer reviewed by leading groundwater experts, confirmed that the
aquifer system could sustainably support the Water Project.

Further, and also prior to beginning the formal environmental permitting process, we entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with the Natural Heritage
Institute (“NHI”), a leading global environmental organization committed to protecting aquatic ecosystems, to assist with our efforts to sustainably manage the
development of our Cadiz/Fenner property. As part of this “Green Compact,” we will follow stringent plans for groundwater management and habitat
conservation, and create a groundwater management plan for the Water Project.

In June 2010, as discussed in (2), above, we entered into environmental cost sharing agreements with all participating water providers. The
environmental cost sharing agreements created a framework for funds to be committed by each participant to share in the costs associated with the ongoing
CEQA review work. SMWD has agreed to serve as the lead agency for the review process. In July 2010, ESA Associates, a leading environmental consulting
firm, was retained to prepare the formal CEQA documentation. In February 2011, SMWD issued a Notice of Preparation of a Draft Environmental Impact
Report (DEIR) formally commencing the public portion of the CEQA permitting process for the Water Project.
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(4) Construction and Working Capital
Once the environmental review is concluded, we expect that we will complete economic agreements with the Water Project participants and make
arrangements for the construction phase of the Water Project. Construction would consist of well-field facilities at the Water Project site and a conveyance
pipeline extending approximately 44 miles along the right-of-way described in (1), above, from the well-field to the Colorado River Aqueduct.

Agricultural Development
Within the Cadiz/Fenner property, 9,600 acres have been zoned for agriculture. The infrastructure includes seven wells that are interconnected
within this acreage, with total annual production capacity of approximately 13,000 acre feet of water. Additionally, there are housing and kitchen facilities that
support up to 300 employees. The underlying groundwater, fertile soil, and desert temperatures are well suited for a wide variety of fruits and vegetables.

Permanent crops currently in commercial production include 160 acres of vineyards of certified organic, dried-on-the-vine raisins and 260 acres of
lemons. Both of these crops are farmed using sustainable agricultural practices.
Seasonal vegetable crops in 2010 included squash and beans. All seasonal vegetable crops are grown organically.

We currently derive our agricultural revenues through the sale of our products in bulk or through independent packing facilities. We incur all of the
costs necessary to produce and harvest our organic raisin crop. These raisins are then sold in bulk to a raisin processing facility. We also incur all of the
costs necessary to produce our lemon crop. Once harvested, the lemons are shipped in bulk to a packing and sales facility. In recent periods, our agricultural
revenues have declined largely due to the removal of 640 acres of vineyard during the years 2004 through 2007 as the vineyard reached the end of its
commercial life. In 2009, we entered into a lease agreement with a third party to replace the acreage that was taken out of production by developing up to an
additional 500 acres of lemon orchards. We expect to receive lease income once the new lemon orchards reach commercial production through a profit sharing
agreement within the lease. The first 40 acres of this new orchard were planted in March 2010.
Although we plan to maintain our agricultural development, revenues will continue to vary from year to year based on acres in development, crop
yields, and prices. Further, we do not believe that our agricultural revenues are likely to be material to our overall results of operations once we begin to receive
revenues from the Water Project.

Renewable Energy and Other Development Opportunities
In addition to the projects described above, we believe that our landholdings are suitable for other types of development, including solar energy
production. Located in an area with strong solar irradiation, proximity to existing utility corridors, appropriate topography, and access to water supplies, our
properties could provide an ideal setting for solar energy generation. Moreover, state, federal and local government entities, along with environmental
organizations, have issued compelling calls to increase the production of renewable energy to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and the consumption of
imported fossil fuels. Solar energy development on private land, particularly in the Mojave Desert region where our properties are located, is being encouraged
as an alternative to the use of federal desert lands.
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We believe that we can ease the demand for the use of federal lands for siting solar facilities in the Mojave Desert by providing solar development
opportunities on our significant, contiguous private landholdings. Up to 20,000 acres at our Cadiz/Fenner property could potentially be made available for
solar energy projects. We are presently in discussions with energy companies interested in utilizing our landholdings for various types of solar energy
development.

In addition to solar energy development, we believe that over the longer-term, the population of Southern California, Nevada, and Arizona will
continue to grow, and that, in time, the economics of commercial and residential development of our properties will become attractive.
We remain committed to the ongoing sustainable use of our land and water assets, and will continue to explore all opportunities for environmentallyresponsible development of these assets. We cannot predict with certainty which of these various opportunities will ultimately be utilized.

Results of Operations
(a)

Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009

We have not received significant revenues from our water resource and real estate development activity to date. Our revenues have been limited to our
agricultural operations. As a result, we continue to incur a net loss from operations. We had revenues of $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2010,
and $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase in revenue is primarily due to a larger raisin and lemon harvest in 2010 in comparison
to 2009. The net loss totaled $15.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with a net loss of $14.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2009. The higher 2010 loss was primarily due to higher stock based non-cash compensation costs related to shares and options issued under the 2009 Equity
Incentive Plan.

Our primary expenses are our ongoing overhead costs (i.e. general and administrative expense) and our interest expense. We will continue to incur
non-cash expenses in connection with our management and director equity incentive compensation plans.

Revenues. Revenue totaled $1.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, compared to $0.8 million during the year ended December 31,
2009. The increase in revenue was primarily due to a larger raisin and lemon harvest in 2010 in comparison to 2009. 2010 revenues included $0.7 million of
revenues related to citrus crop sales, which were up $0.1 million from the prior year, and $0.3 million of revenues related to raisin sales, which were up $0.1
million from the prior year.

Cost of Sales. Cost of Sales totaled $0.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with $1.1 million during the year ended
December 31, 2009. The higher cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 2009, related largely to a reduction in carrying costs of the 2008 raisin
inventory resulting in a write-down of inventory in 2009.
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General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses during the year ended December 31, 2010, totaled $10.8 million
compared with $9.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. Non-cash compensation costs related to stock and option awards are included in general
and administrative expenses.
Compensation costs from stock and option awards for the year ended December 31, 2010 totaled $4.0 million compared with $2.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2009. The higher 2010 expense related largely to the issuance of restricted shares and the vesting of options that were issued under
our 2009 Equity Incentive Plan.

Other general and administrative expenses, exclusive of stock based compensation costs, totaled $6.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2010,
compared with $7.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The higher 2009 expenses were primarily due to new hydrological studies and an
incentive fee earned for certain legal and advisory services upon completion of milestones associated with the Water Project.

Depreciation. Depreciation expenses totaled $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared to $0.3 million for 2009.

Interest Expense, net . Net interest expense totaled $4.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, compared to $4.3 million during
2009. The following table summarizes the components of net interest expense for the two periods (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2010

$

Interest on outstanding debt
Amortization of debt discount
Amortization of deferred loan costs
Interest income

2009

2,782 $
1,918
42
(8 )

$

4,734 $

2,356
1,937
56
(35 )
4,314

The interest on outstanding debt increased from $2.4 million to $2.8 million due to the increase in interest rate from 5% to 6% per annum on the senior
secured convertible term loan and the increase in debt outstanding under the new working capital facility, while the amortization of debt discount decreased
slightly due to extension of the accretion schedule related to the conversion option embedded in the term loan. 2010 interest income decreased to $8 thousand
from $35 thousand in the prior year due to lower short-term interest rates and a more conservative investment policy.
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Debt Refinancing. Deferred loan costs, which are primarily legal fees, are amortized over the life of each loan agreement. In June 2006, we
refinanced our term loan with ING Capital LLC (“ING”) with a new senior secured convertible term loan with a different lender. As a result, $408,000 of legal
fees were capitalized and will be amortized over the 7 year life of the loan agreement. An additional $105,000 of lender fees were capitalized when the term loan
was modified in October 2010. These fees will be amortized over the remaining life of the term loan. In June 2009 and October 2010, the term loan was
modified as to certain of its conversion features. As a result of the of these convertible debt arrangements, the change in conversion value between the original
and modified instrument totaled approximately $3.2 million, which was recorded as additional debt discount with an offsetting amount recorded as additional
paid-in capital. Such debt discount is accreted to the redemption value of the instrument over the remaining term of the loan as additional interest expense. In
connection with the modification transaction in October 2010, a derivative liability related to the conversion option was recorded. This derivative liability had
a fair value of $451 thousand at December 31, 2010, and will be marked-to-market at the end of each reporting period and recorded as other income (expense).

(b)

Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2008

We had revenues of $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, and $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease in
revenue is primarily due to a smaller raisin and lemon harvest in 2009 in comparison to 2008. The net loss totaled $14.4 million for the year ended December
31, 2009, compared with a net loss of $15.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The larger loss in 2008 resulted primarily from higher non-cash
expenses related to stock and option awards, and expenses related to our lawsuit against the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California that was settled
in the first quarter of 2009.

Revenues. Revenue totaled $0.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to $1.0 million during the year ended December 31,
2008. The decrease in revenue is primarily due to a smaller raisin and lemon harvest in 2009 in comparison to 2008. 2009 revenues included $0.6 million of
revenues related to citrus crop sales, which were down $0.1 million from the prior year, and $0.2 million of revenues related to raisin sales, which were down
$0.1 million from the prior year.

Cost of Sales. Cost of Sales totaled $1.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, compared with $1.1 million during the year ended
December 31, 2008.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses during the year ended December 31, 2009, totaled $9.4 million
compared with $11.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Non-cash compensation costs related to stock and option awards are included in general
and administrative expenses.
Compensation costs from stock and option awards for the year ended December 31, 2009 totaled $2.3 million compared with $4.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2008. The expense reflects the vesting schedule of the 2007 Management Equity Incentive Plan stock awards that became effective in
July 2007. Of these amounts, $1.2 million in 2009 and $3.1 million in 2008 relate to Milestone Based Deferred Stock, none of which were ultimately
issued. Shares and options issued under the Plans vested over varying periods from the date of issue to January 2011.
Other general and administrative expenses, exclusive of stock based compensation costs, totaled $7.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2009,
compared with $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Higher 2009 expenses were primarily due to additional legal and consulting fees related to
water development efforts.
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Depreciation. Depreciation expenses totaled $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to $0.3 million for 2008.

Interest Expense, net . Net interest expense totaled $4.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to $4.3 million during
2008. The following table summarizes the components of net interest expense for the two periods (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2009

$

Interest on outstanding debt
Amortization of debt discount
Amortization of deferred loan costs
Interest income

$

2008

2,356 $
1,937
56
(35 )

2,299
77

4,314 $

4,302

2,033

(107 )

The interest on outstanding debt increased from $2.0 million to $2.4 million due to the increase in interest rate from 5% to 6% per annum on the senior
secured convertible term loan, while the amortization of debt discount decreased from $2.3 million to $1.9 million due to extension of the accretion schedule
related to the conversion option embedded in the term loan. 2009 interest income decreased to $35 thousand from $107 thousand in the prior year due to lower
short-term interest rates and a more conservative investment policy.

Debt Refinancing. Deferred loan costs, which are primarily legal fees, are amortized over the life of each loan agreement. In June 2006, we
refinanced our term loan with ING Capital LLC (“ING”) with a new senior secured convertible term loan with a different lender. As a result, $408,000 of legal
fees were capitalized and will be amortized over the 7 year life of the loan agreement. In June 2009, the conversion feature of the term loan was modified. As a
result of the modification of the convertible debt arrangement, the change in conversion value between the original and modified instrument was approximately
$1.6 million, which was recorded as an additional debt discount. Such debt discount is accreted to the redemption value of the instrument over the remaining
term of the loan as additional interest expense.
Liquidity and Capital Resources

(a)

Current Financing Arrangements

As we have not received significant revenues from our development activities to date, we have been required to obtain financing to bridge the gap
between the time water resource and other development expenses are incurred and the time that revenue will commence. Historically, we have addressed these
needs primarily through secured debt financing arrangements, private equity placements and the exercise of outstanding stock options and warrants.
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We have worked with our secured lenders to structure our debt in a way which allows us to continue development of the Water Project and minimize
the dilution of the ownership interests of common stockholders. In June 2006, we entered into a $36.4 million five year zero coupon senior secured convertible
term loan with Peloton Partners LLP (through an affiliate) and another lender (the “Term Loan”). On April 16, 2008, we were advised that Peloton had
assigned its interest in the Term Loan to an affiliate of Lampe Conway & Company LLC (“Lampe Conway”), and Lampe Conway subsequently replaced
Peloton as administrative agent of the loan. On June 4, 2009, we completed arrangements to amend the Term Loan with Lampe Conway which modified
certain of the conversion features and extended the maturity date to June 29, 2013.

On October 19, 2010 we closed a new $10 million working capital facility with Lampe Conway and our other participating lender (“the
Lenders”). Under the terms of the new $10 million facility, the Company drew the first $5 million on the Closing Date (“First Tranche”). At the Company’s
option, it may draw up to an additional $5 million over the 12 months following the Closing Date (“Second Tranche”). All interest on outstanding balances
will accrue at 6%, with no principal or interest payments required before the new facility’s June 29, 2013 maturity date, consistent with the Company’s
existing term debt facility.

The First Tranche (including accrued interest) is convertible at any time into the Company’s common stock at a price of $13.50 per share and the
Second Tranche (including accrued interest), if drawn, would be convertible into the Company’s common stock at $12.50 per share.
Also on the Closing Date, the Company’s existing Term Loan with the Lenders was modified as to certain of its conversion features:

· $20.62 million of the existing convertible debt has been changed to allow for up to $2.5 million of this amount to be converted at any time
into the Company’s common stock at the price of $13.50 per share, with the remaining amount becoming non-convertible.

· If the Second Tranche is drawn, approximately $20 million of additional existing debt would be changed to allow for up to $5 million of

this amount to be converted at any time into the Company’s common stock at $12.50 per share, with the remaining amount becoming nonconvertible.

· The final $4.55 million of the existing debt continues to be convertible at $7 per share.
The Term Loan is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company, and contains representations, warranties and covenants that are typical for
agreements of this type, including restrictions that would limit the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, incur liens, pay dividends or make
restricted payments, dispose of assets, make investments and merge or consolidate with another person. However, while there are affirmative covenants, there
are no financial maintenance covenants and no restrictions on the Company’s ability to issue additional common stock to fund future working capital needs.
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As a result of the modifications of the convertible debt arrangement in June 2009 and October 2010, the change in conversion value between the original and
modified instrument totaling approximately $3.2 million was recorded as additional debt discount with an offsetting amount recorded as additional paid-in
capital. Such debt discount is accreted to the redemption value of the instrument over the remaining term of the loan as additional interest expense. In
connection with the modification transaction in October 2010, the Company recorded a derivative liability related to the conversion option. This derivative
liability had a fair value of $451 thousand at December 31, 2010, and will be marked-to-market at the end of each reporting period and recorded as other
income (expense).

The debt covenants associated with the loan were negotiated by the parties with a view towards our operating and financial condition as it existed at
the time the agreements were executed. At December 31, 2010, we were in compliance with our debt covenants.

In November and December of 2008, we completed a private placement of 165,000 Units at the price of $31.50 per unit for proceeds of
$5,197,500. Each Unit consists of three (3) shares of our common stock and two (2) common stock purchase warrants. The first warrant entitled the
holder to purchase one (1) share of common stock at an exercise price of $12.50 per share. On November 17, 2009, the exercise price of this Callable
Warrant was temporarily reduced to $10.50 per share. In response, holders of 162,849 warrants exercised their warrants, resulting in our issuance of
162,849 shares of common stock with net proceeds of $1,709,915. The remaining 2,151 warrants were cancelled. The second warrant entitles the holder
to purchase one (1) share of common stock at an exercise price of $12.50 per share. This warrant has a term of three years and is not callable by us.

In October 2009, the Company raised $7.1 million with a private placement of 226,200 Units at $31.50 per Unit. This includes 20,880 Units
purchased by the Lenders of the Term Loan pursuant to the Lenders’ Participation Rights under the Term Loan. Each Unit consists of three (3) shares of the
Company’s common stock and one (1) stock purchase warrant. The warrant entitles the holder to purchase one (1) share of common stock at an exercise
price of $15.00 per share. The warrant has a term of three (3) years, but is callable by the Company at any time following November 1, 2010, if the closing
market price of the Company’s common stock exceeds $22.50 for 10 consecutive trading days.
As we continue to actively pursue our business strategy, additional financing will be required. See “Outlook”, below. The covenants in the Term
Loan do not prohibit our use of additional equity financing and allow us to retain 100% of the proceeds of any equity financing. We do not expect the loan
covenants to materially limit our ability to finance our water development activities.
At December 31, 2010, we had no outstanding credit facilities other than the Convertible Term Loan.

Cash Used for Operating Activities . Cash used for operating activities totaled $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, and $6.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The cash was primarily used to fund general and administrative expenses related to our water development
efforts.
Cash Used In (Provided by) Investing Activities . Cash used in investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2010, was $1.2 million,
compared with $4.4 million of cash provided by investing activities during the same period in 2009. The 2009 period included $4.5 million of short-term
deposits that matured, which were not considered cash equivalents. The 2010 period included additional investments in well-field and environmental work
related to progressing the Water Project.
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Cash Provided by Financing Activities . Cash provided by financing activities totaled $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2010,
compared with $8.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. The 2010 results reflect $5.0 million in proceeds received under our new working capital
facility. The 2009 cash provided included $1.7 million of proceeds from the issuance of 162,849 shares of common stock at $10.50 per share upon exercise
of outstanding warrants, and $7.1 million of proceeds from a private placement. See “Current Financing Arrangements” above.

(b)

Outlook

Short Term Outlook. The $10 million new working capital facility, which closed on October 19, 2010, together with our existing cash resources,
provide us with sufficient funds to meet our expected working capital needs through fiscal year 2011. Based on our current and anticipated usage of cash
resources, we will require additional working capital commencing during the first quarter of fiscal 2012 to meet our cash resource needs from that point
forward and to continue to finance our operations until such time as our asset development programs produce revenue. If we are unable to generate this from
our current development activities, then we will need to seek additional equity financing in the capital markets. We expect to continue our historical practice of
structuring our financing arrangements to match the anticipated needs of our development activities. See "Long Term Outlook", below. No assurances can be
given, however, as to the availability or terms of any new financing.
Long Term Outlook. In the longer term, we will need to raise additional capital to finance working capital needs, capital expenditures and any
payments due under our senior secured convertible term loan at maturity. See “Current Financing Arrangements” above. Payments will be due under the term
loan only to the extent that lenders elect not to exercise equity conversion rights prior to the loan’s final maturity date. Our future working capital needs will
depend upon the specific measures we pursue in the entitlement and development of our water resources and other development. Future capital expenditures
will depend primarily on the progress of the Water Project. We will evaluate the amount of cash needed, and the manner in which such cash will be raised, on
an ongoing basis. We may meet any future cash requirements through a variety of means, including equity or debt placements, or through the sale or other
disposition of assets. Equity placements would be undertaken only to the extent necessary, so as to minimize the dilutive effect of any such placements upon
our existing stockholders. Limitations on our liquidity and ability to raise capital may adversely affect us. Sufficient liquidity is critical to meet our resource
development activities. Although we currently expect our sources of capital to be sufficient to meet our near term liquidity needs, there can be no assurance that
our liquidity requirements will continue to be satisfied. If the Company cannot raise needed funds, it might be forced to make substantial reductions in its
operating expenses, which could adversely affect its ability to implement its current business plan and ultimately its viability as a company.
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(c)

Critical Accounting Policies

As discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of Cadiz, the preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements and related footnotes. In preparing these financial statements, management has made its best estimates and judgments of
certain amounts included in the financial statements based on all relevant information available at the time and giving due consideration to materiality. We do
not believe there is a great likelihood that materially different amounts would be reported related to the accounting policies described below. However,
application of these policies involves the exercise of judgment and use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could differ
from these estimates. Management has concluded that the following critical accounting policies described below affect the most significant judgments and
estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

(1) Intangible and Other Long-Lived Assets . Property, plant and equipment, intangible and certain other long-lived assets are depreciated or
amortized over their useful lives. Useful lives are based on management’s estimates of the period over which the assets will generate revenue.
(2) Goodwill. As a result of a merger in May 1988 between two companies, which eventually became known as Cadiz Inc., goodwill in the amount
of $7,006,000 was recorded. Approximately $3,193,000 of this amount was amortized until the adoption of Accounting Standards Codification 350,
“Intangibles – Goodwill and Other” (“ASC 350”) on January 1, 2002.

(3) Valuation of Goodwill and Long-Lived Asset. The Company assesses long-lived assets, excluding goodwill, for recoverability whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable through the estimated undiscounted future cash flows resulting
from the use of the assets. If it is determined that the carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable, the impairment is measured by using the
projected discounted cash-flow method. The Company reevaluates the carrying value of its water program annually.
The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually as of December 31st, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate carrying values
may not be recoverable, using the projected discounted cash-flow method.
The Company uses a two-step impairment test to identify potential goodwill impairment and measure the amount of a goodwill impairment loss to be
recognized (if any) for the Company. The step 1 calculation, used to identify potential impairment, compares the estimated fair value of the Company to its
net carrying value (book values), including goodwill, on the measurement date. If the fair value of the Company is less than its carrying value, step 2 of the
impairment test is required to measure the amount of the impairment loss (if any).
The step 2 calculation of the impairment test compares the implied fair value of the goodwill to the carrying value of goodwill. The implied fair value
of goodwill represents the excess of the estimated fair value above the fair value of the Company's identified assets and liabilities. If the carrying value of
goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess (not to exceed the carrying value of
goodwill). The determination of the fair value of its assets and liabilities is performed as of the measurement date using observable market data before and
after the measurement date (if that subsequent information is relevant to the fair value on the measurement date).
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(4) Deferred Tax Assets and Valuation Allowances. To date, the Company has not generated significant revenue from its water development
programs, and it has a history of net operating losses. As such, the Company has generated significant deferred tax assets, including large net operating loss
carry forwards for federal and state income taxes for which it has recorded a full valuation allowance. Management is currently working on water storage,
water supply, agriculture and solar energy development projects, including the Water Project, that are designed to generate future taxable income, although
there can be no guarantee that this will occur. If taxable income is generated in future years, some portion or all of the valuation allowance will be reversed, and
an increase in net income would consequently be reported.
(d)

New Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”.

(e)

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

Cadiz does not have any off balance sheet arrangements at this time.

(f)

Certain Known Contractual Obligations

Long term debt obligations

Payments Due by Period
Less than 1 year
1-3 years

Total

Contractual Obligations

$

51,432

$

16

8,362

Interest payable
Operating leases

$

614
60,408

$

1
322
339

$

51,416

$

8,361
$

292
60,069

After 5 years

4-5 years
-

$

-

-

-

$

-

-

-

$

-

Long-term debt included in the table above primarily reflects the Convertible Term Loan, which is described above in Item 7,”Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation; Liquidity and Capital Resources”. Operating leases include the lease of the Company’s executive
offices, as described in Item 2, “Properties”.
Not included in the table above is a potential obligation to pay an amount of up to 1% of the net present value of the Water Project in consideration of
certain legal and advisory services to be provided to us by Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck LLP. The primary services being provided are advising us as to
Water Project design and implementation, permit approvals, environmental compliance, negotiation and drafting of agreements related to the Water
Project. This fee would be payable upon receipt of all environmental approvals and permits and the execution of binding agreements for at least 51% of the
Water Project’s annual capacity. A portion of this fee may be payable in stock. Interim payments of $1.5 million, to be credited against the final total, would
be made upon the achievement of certain specified milestones. $500 thousand of these interim payments was earned in June 2009 in consideration for the legal
and advisory services previously provided. No further milestones have been met as of December 31, 2010. This arrangement may be terminated by either
party upon 60 days notice, with any compensation earned but unpaid prior to termination payable following termination.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
As of December 31, 2010, all of our indebtedness bore interest at fixed rates; therefore, we are not exposed to market risk from changes in interest
rates on long-term debt obligations.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The information required by this item is submitted in response to Part IV below. See the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We have established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information related to the Company, including its consolidated
entities, is accumulated and communicated to senior management, including the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (the “Principal Executive Officer”) and
Chief Financial Officer (the “Principal Financial Officer”) and to our Board of Directors. Based on their evaluation as of December 31, 2010, our Principal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer have concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) are effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it
files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities
and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the principal executive and
principal financial officers as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria in the Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under that framework, our
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2010. The effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in
their report which is included herein.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act, there was no change identified in the Company's
internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.
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PART III
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive proxy statement involving the election of directors which we intend
to file with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 not later than 120 days after December 31, 2010.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation
The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive proxy statement involving the election of directors which we intend
to file with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 not later than 120 days after December 31, 2010.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive proxy statement involving the election of directors which we intend
to file with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 not later than 120 days after December 31, 2010.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive proxy statement involving the election of directors which we intend
to file with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 not later than 120 days after December 31, 2010.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive proxy statement involving the election of directors which
we intend to file with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 not later than 120 days after December 31, 2010.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

1.

Financial Statement. See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2.

Financial Statement Schedule. See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.

3.

Exhibits.

The following exhibits are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Form 10-K.

3.1

Cadiz Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (1)

3.2

Amendment to Cadiz Certificate of Incorporation dated November 8, 1996 (2)

3.3

Amendment to Cadiz Certificate of Incorporation dated September 1, 1998 (3)

3.4

Amendment to Cadiz Certificate of Incorporation dated December 15, 2003 (4)

3.5

Certificate of Elimination of Series D Preferred Stock, Series E-1 Preferred Stock and Series E-2 Preferred Stock of Cadiz Inc. dated
December 15, 2003 (4)

3.6

Certificate of Elimination of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Cadiz Inc., dated March 25, 2004

3.7

Amended and Restated Certificate of Designations of Series F Preferred Stock of Cadiz Inc.

3.8

Cadiz Bylaws, as amended (6)

3.9

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Designations of Series F Preferred Stock of Cadiz Inc. dated June 30, 2006, as corrected
by Certificate of Correction dated March 14, 2007 (14)

3.10

Certificate of Elimination of Series F Preferred Stock of Cadiz Inc. (as filed August 3, 2007)

4.1

Form of Subscription Agreement used for issuance of Units in November 2008 (7)

4.2

Form of Subscription Agreement used for issuance of Units in December 2008 (7)

(4)

(5)

(16)
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4.3

Form of Warrant Agreement (Non-Callable) (7)

4.4

Form of Subscription Agreement used for issuance of Units in October and November 2009

4.5

Form of Warrant Agreement (8)

10.1

Limited Liability Company Agreement of Cadiz Real Estate LLC dated December 11, 2003 (4)

10.2

Amendment No. 1, dated October 29, 2004, to Limited Liability Company Agreement of Cadiz Real Estate LLC

10.3

Consulting Agreement dated August 1, 2002 by and between Richard Stoddard and Cadiz Inc., and Extension of Consulting
Agreement dated January 1, 2004 by and between Richard Stoddard and Cadiz Inc. (9)

10.4

Settlement Agreement dated as of August 11, 2005 by and between Cadiz Inc., on the one hand, and Sun World International, Inc.,
Sun Desert, Inc., Coachella Growers and Sun World/Rayo, on the other hand (10)

10.5

$36,375,000 Credit Agreement among Cadiz Inc. and Cadiz Real Estate LLC, as Borrowers, the Several Lenders from time to time
parties thereto, and Peloton Partners LLP, as Administrative Agent, dated as of June 26, 2006 (11)

10.6

Amendment No. 1 dated September 29, 2006 to the $36,375,000 Credit Agreement among Cadiz Inc. and Cadiz Real Estate LLC,
as Borrowers, the Several Lenders from time to time parties thereto and Peloton Partners LLP, as Administrative Agent, dated as of
June 26, 2006 (12)

10.7

Outside Director Compensation Plan (13)

10.8

Resolutions adopted by the Cadiz Inc. Board of Directors on March 13, 2007, increasing the monthly consulting fees paid to
Richard E. Stoddard (14)

10.9

2007 Management Equity Incentive Plan (15)

10.10

Amendment No. 2 dated October 1, 2007 to Reorganization Plan and Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Assets dated as of
February 18, 1998 among Cadiz Inc. and Mark A. Liggett in his capacity as successor in interest to Exploration Research
Associates, Incorporated., a California corporation (“ ERA”) and in his individual capacity as former sole shareholder of ERA and
as the successor in interest to ERA (17)

10.11

Longitudinal Lease Agreement dated September 17, 2008 between Arizona & California Railroad Company and Cadiz Real Estate,
LLC(18)

(8)

(9)
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10.12

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Keith Brackpool and Cadiz Inc. dated May 22, 2009

10.13

Employment Agreement between Timothy J. Shaheen and Cadiz Inc. dated May 22, 2009 (19)

10.14

Amendment No. 2 to the Credit Agreement among Cadiz Inc. and Cadiz Real Estate LLC, as Borrowers, the Several Lenders from
time to time parties thereto, and LC Capital Master Fund Ltd., as Administrative Agent, dated as of June 4, 2009 (20)

10.15

2009 Equity Incentive Plan (21)

10.16

Letter of Intent with Golden State Water Company dated June 1, 2009 (8)

10.17

Services and Exclusivity Agreement with Layne Christensen Company dated November 2, 2009, as amended by amendments dated
January 4, 2010, January 27, 2010 (22)

10.18

Form of Option Agreement with Santa Margarita Water District (23)

10.19

Form of Environmental Processing and Cost Sharing Agreement with Santa Margarita Water District (23)

10.20

Form of Environmental Processing and Cost Sharing Agreement with Three Valleys Municipal Water District (23)

10.21

Option Agreement with Golden State Water Company dated June 25, 2010 (24)

10.22

Option Agreement with Suburban Water Systems dated October 4, 2010 (25)

10.23

Amendment No. 3 to the Credit Agreement and Amendment No. 2 to the Registration Rights Agreement among Cadiz Inc. and Cadiz
Real Estate LLC, as Borrowers, the Several Lenders from time to time parties thereto, and LC Capital Master Fund Ltd., as
Administrative Agent, dated as of October 19, 2010 (26)

10.24

Amendment No. 3 to the Services and Exclusivity Agreement with Layne Christensen Company dated April 8, 2010

10.25

Amendment to consulting agreement with Richard E. Stoddard dated January 1, 2011

21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

(19)
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31.1

Certification of Keith Brackpool, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Cadiz Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002

31.2

Certification of Timothy J. Shaheen, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of Cadiz Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002

32.1

Certification of Keith Brackpool, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Cadiz Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2

Certification of Timothy J. Shaheen, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of Cadiz Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

________________________________________________________________________

(1)

(2)

Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Registration Statement of Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-75642) declared effective May 16,
1994 filed on February 23, 1994
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1996 filed on November 14,

1996
(3)

Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1998 filed on November

13, 1998
(4)

Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 filed on November 2,
2004

(5)
(6)

Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 30, 2004 filed on December 2, 2004
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1999 filed on August 13,

1999
(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)

Previously filed as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-156502) filed
on January 27, 2009
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-163321) filed on November 24,
2009
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004 filed on March 31,
2005
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005 filed on November 14, 2005
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-126117) filed on July 28, 2006
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 4, 2006 and filed October 4, 2006
Previously filed as Appendix B to our definitive proxy dated October 10, 2006 and filed October 10, 2006
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 filed on March

16, 2007
(15)

Previously filed as Appendix A to our definitive proxy dated April 27, 2007 and filed April 27, 2007
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(16)

(17)

(18)
(19)

(20)

(21)
(22)

Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 filed on August 6, 2007
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 filed on March 14,
2008
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008 on November 10,2008
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, filed on August
10, 2009
Previously filed as an Exhibit to the Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No.
333-136117) filed on August 3, 2009
Previously filed as Appendix A to our definitive proxy dated November 3, 2009, and filed on November 5, 2009
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 filed on March

15, 2010
(23)
(24)
(25)
(26)

Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 23, 2010 and filed on June 24, 2010
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 25, 2010 and filed on June 28, 2010
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 4, 2010 and filed on October 7, 2010
Previously filed as an Exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 19, 2010 and filed on October 20, 2010
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Cadiz Inc.:
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Cadiz,
Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion,
the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in
conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is responsible for these financial statements and financial
statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our
integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement
and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Los Angeles, California

March 16, 2011
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CADIZ INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share data)

2010

$

Total revenues

Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation shown below)
General and administrative
Depreciation
Total costs and expenses
Operating loss
Interest expense, net
Other expense, net

Net loss before income taxes

2009

1,023

$

808

$

992

927
10,801

1,102
9,445

1,098
11,154

344

342

341

12,072

10,889

12,593

(11,049)

(10,081)

(11,601)

(4,734)
(110)

(4,314)

(4,302)

(15,893)

(14,395)

-

6

Income tax expense

2008

4

-

(15,903)
6

Net loss applicable to common stock

$

(15,899) $

(14,399) $

(15,909)

Basic and diluted net loss per share

$

(1.16) $

(1.13) $

(1.32)

13,672

Weighted-average shares outstanding

12,722

12,014

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CADIZ INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,

($ in thousands)

2010

2009

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other

$

Total current assets
Property, plant, equipment and water programs, net
Goodwill
Other assets

5,911
277
299

$

6,487

9,415

38,315
3,813

36,613
3,813
478

321

Total assets

8,878
175
362

$

48,936

$

50,319

$

358
1,518
16

$

499
829

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Current portion of long term debt

20

1,892

1,348

Long-term debt
Derivative liabilities
Tax liability
Other long-term liabilities

44,403

36,665

Total liabilities

Total current liabilities

451

-

321

923

321
752

47,990

39,086

137

135

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)

Stockholders' equity:

Common stock - $0.01 par value; 70,000,000 shares Authorized; shares issued and outstanding:
13,677,772 at December 31, 2010, and 13,500,997 at December 31, 2009

282,359
(281,550)
946

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity

$

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

48,936

276,749
(265,651)
11,233
$

50,319

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CADIZ INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31,
($

in thousands)

2010

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
Used for operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization of deferred loan costs
Amortization of debt discount
Interest added to loan principal
Unrealized loss on derivative liability
Compensation charge for stock awards and share options
Issuance of stock for services
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in accounts receivable
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other
Decrease in other assets
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities
Increase in tax liability

$

2009

(15,899) $

(14,399) $

344

342

341

42

56
1,937
2,356

77
2,299
2,033

1,918
2,782
110
4,009
(102)

63
220
(141)
(107)
-

(6,761)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Investments in short-term deposits
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities
Other assets

-

(1,184)
-

(1,184)

Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Principal payments on long-term debt

-

5,000
(22)

Net cash provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

$

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

(15,909 )

-

-

2,273

4,358
135

500

-

Net cash used for operating activities

2008

(109)
145
194
252
(30)
105

(46 )
(291 )

(6,378)

(7,133 )

(119)
4,500

(4,500 )
(93 )

-

(161)
27
4

-

-

(235 )

4,381

(4,828 )

8,835
46

5,063
-

(20)

(9)

4,978

8,861

5,054

(2,967)

6,864

(6,907 )

8,878

2,014

8,921

5,911

$

8,878

$

2,014

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statement.
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CADIZ INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balance as of December 31, 2007

Issuance of shares pursuant to stock
awards
Issuance of shares pursuant to Private
Placement
Stock compensation expense

Net loss
Balance as of December 31, 2008

Issuance of shares pursuant to stock
awards
Issuance of shares pursuant to
warrant exercises and Private Placement
Issuance of common stock for services
Convertible term loan conversion option
Stock compensation expense
Net loss
Balance as of December 31, 2009
Issuance of shares pursuant to stock
awards
Convertible term loan conversion option
Stock compensation expense
Net loss
Balance as of December 31, 2010

11,903,611

$

Total

Additional
Paid-in

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Accumulated
Deficit

Capital

119

$

253,983

$

Stockholders’
Equity

(235,343 ) $

54,599

1

-

-

495,000

5
-

5,192
4,358

-

-

12,453,210

-

$

125

-

-

$

263,533

$

(15,909 )
(251,252 ) $

18,759
1
5,197
4,358
(15,909 )
12,406

147,026

1

-

-

1

841,449
59,312

8
1

-

8,835

-

-

-

-

8,827
499
1,617
2,273

-

-

-

13,500,997

$

135

$

276,749

-

$

(14,399 )
(265,651 ) $

176,775

2

-

-

-

-

1,603

-

-

-

4,007

-

-

-

13,677,772

$

137

$

282,359

-

$

(15,899 )
(281,550 ) $

500

1,617
2,273
(14,399 )
11,233
2
1,603
4,007

(15,899 )
946

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CADIZ INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 – DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Our primary asset consists of 45,000 acres of land in three areas of eastern San Bernardino County, California. Virtually all of this land is
underlain by high-quality, naturally recharging groundwater resources, and is situated in proximity to the Colorado River and the Colorado River Aqueduct,
the major source of imported water for Southern California. Our main objective is to realize the highest and best use of these land and water resources in an
environmentally responsible way.
In 1993, we secured permits for up to 9,600 acres of agricultural development at our 35,000-acre property in the Cadiz Valley and the withdrawal of
more than one million acre-feet of groundwater from the underlying aquifer system. Since that time, we have maintained various levels of agricultural
development at the property and this development has provided our principal source of revenue. Although sustainable agricultural development is an
important and enduring component of our business, we believe that the long-term value of our assets can best be derived through the development of a
combination of water supply, water storage, and solar energy projects at our properties.
The primary factors that drive the value of water supply projects are continued population growth and increasing pressure on water supplies
throughout California. Southern California in particular now faces the prospect of long-term and systematic water supply shortages resulting from restrictions
on each of its three imported water sources: the State Water Project, the Colorado River and the Owens Valley. As a result of these restrictions, water agencies
must overcome significant projected supply deficiencies to meet existing and projected demands. For example, despite experiencing above-average rainfall in
each of the last two years, ongoing environmental and regulatory restrictions affecting California’s water supplies and infrastructure have forced many water
providers to limit water deliveries to their customers. Given that the present imbalance in annual supply and demand is projected to continue for many years
into the future, water providers are now evaluating new sources of supply as a method to off-set their existing shortages.
Opportunities in the solar energy production market are being driven by a series of policy initiatives issued by the State of California and the United
States government. This includes California’s mandate to acquire 33% of the state’s electricity from renewable sources by 2020 and federal efforts to accelerate
renewable energy and transmission project development in the Mojave Desert. Energy companies, government agencies and environmental organizations are
actively working to identify suitable locations for solar energy development to meet future energy needs and have encouraged development on private lands.
As a result of these developments in the water and energy sectors, we plan to continue to pursue water supply, water storage and solar energy projects
at our properties. At present, our development efforts are primarily focused on the Cadiz Valley Water Conservation, Recovery and Storage Project (“Water
Project”), which involves the capture, delivery and storage of groundwater that is otherwise lost to evaporation. We believe that the ultimate implementation of
this Water Project will create the primary source of our future cash flow and, accordingly, our working capital requirements relate largely to the development
activities associated with this Water Project.
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The Water Project is designed to capture and conserve billions of gallons of renewable native groundwater currently being lost annually to evaporation
from the aquifer system underlying our Cadiz/Fenner property. By implementing established groundwater management practices, the Water Project will create
a new, sustainable water supply for Project participants without adversely impacting the aquifer system or the desert environment. The total quantity of
groundwater to be recovered and conveyed to Project participants will not exceed a long-term annual average of approximately 50,000 acre-feet per year. The
Project also offers participants the ability to carry-over their annual supply and store it in the groundwater basin from year to year, as well as approximately
one million acre-feet of storage capacity that can be used to store imported water.
In general, several elements are needed to implement such a project: (1) a pipeline right-of-way from the Colorado River Aqueduct to the Water Project
area; (2) storage and supply agreements with one or more public water agencies or private water utilities; (3) environmental permits; and (4) construction and
working capital financing. As described below, the first three elements have been progressed on a concurrent basis. The fourth is dependent on actions arising
from the completion of the first three.

(1) A Pipeline Right-of-Way from the Colorado River Aqueduct to the Water Project Area
In September 2008, we secured a right-of-way for the Water Project’s water conveyance pipeline by entering into a lease agreement with the Arizona &
California Railroad Company. The agreement allows for the use of a portion of the railroad’s right-of-way for a period up to 99 years to construct and operate
the Water Project’s water conveyance pipeline. The pipeline would be used to convey water between our Cadiz/Fenner property and the Colorado River
Aqueduct.

(2) Storage and Supply Agreements with One or More Public Water Agencies or Private Water Utilities
In June 2010, we entered into option and environmental cost sharing agreements with three water providers: Santa Margarita Water District
(“SMWD”), Golden State Water Company (a wholly-owned subsidiary of American States Water [NYSE: AWR]) and Three Valleys Municipal Water
District. The three water providers serve more than one million customers in cities throughout California’s San Bernardino, Riverside, Los Angeles, Orange
and Ventura Counties.

In September 2010, we also entered into option and environmental cost sharing agreements with Suburban Water Systems, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of SouthWest Water Company. Suburban Water Systems provides water to a population of approximately 300,000 people in a 42-square-mile
service area in California's Los Angeles and Orange counties.
Under the terms of the agreements with the four water providers, upon completion of the Water Project’s California Environmental Quality Act
(“CEQA”) review, each agency will have the right to acquire an annual supply of 5,000 acre-feet of water at a pre-determined formula competitive with their
incremental cost of new water. SMWD also was given the option to purchase an additional 10,000 acre-feet of water per year. In addition, the agencies have
options to acquire storage rights in the Water Project to allow them to manage their supplies to complement their other water resources. The option agreements
had no impact on our operations, financial position, or cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2010.
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We continue to work with additional water providers interested in acquiring rights to the remaining annual supply expected to be conserved by the
Water Project and are in discussions with third parties regarding the imported storage aspect of this Project. We have also begun to develop an operating plan
for the Water Project that will manage the delivery of conserved water to the Project’s subscribers.

(3) Environmental Permits
In order to properly develop and quantify the sustainability of the Water Project, and prior to initiating the formal permitting process for the Water Project, we
commissioned internationally recognized environmental consulting firm CH2M HILL to complete a comprehensive study of the water resources at the Project
area. Following a year of analysis, CH2M HILL released its study of the aquifer system in February 2010. Utilizing new models produced by the U.S.
Geological Survey in 2006 and 2008, the study estimated the total groundwater in storage in the aquifer system to be between 17 and 34 million acre-feet, a
quantity on par with Lake Mead, the nation’s largest surface reservoir. The study also identified a renewable annual supply of native groundwater in the
aquifer system currently being lost to evaporation. CH2M HILL’s findings, which were peer reviewed by leading groundwater experts, confirmed that the
aquifer system could sustainably support the Water Project.

Further, and also prior to beginning the formal environmental permitting process, we entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with the Natural Heritage
Institute (“NHI”), a leading global environmental organization committed to protecting aquatic ecosystems, to assist with our efforts to sustainably manage the
development of our Cadiz/Fenner property. As part of this “Green Compact,” we will follow stringent plans for groundwater management and habitat
conservation, and create a groundwater management plan for the Water Project.

In June 2010, as discussed in (2), above, we entered into environmental cost sharing agreements with all participating water providers. The environmental
cost sharing agreements created a framework for funds to be committed by each participant to share in the costs associated with the ongoing CEQA review
work. SMWD has agreed to serve as the lead agency for the review process. In July 2010, ESA Associates, a leading environmental consulting firm, was
retained to prepare the formal CEQA documentation. In February 2011, SMWD issued a Notice of Preparation of a Draft Environmental Impact Report
(DEIR) formally commencing the public portion of the CEQA permitting process for the Water Project.

(4) Construction and Working Capital Financing
Once the environmental review is concluded, we expect that we will complete economic agreements with the Water Project participants and make
arrangements for the construction phase of the Water Project. Construction would consist of well-field facilities at the Water Project site and a conveyance
pipeline extending approximately 44 miles along the right-of-way described in (1), above, from the well-field to the Colorado River Aqueduct.
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In addition to the development projects described above, we believe that over the longer-term, the population of Southern California, Nevada, and
Arizona will continue to grow, and that, in time, the economics of commercial and residential development of our properties will become attractive.
We remain committed to the ongoing sustainable use of our land and water assets, and will continue to explore all opportunities for environmentallyresponsible development of these assets. We cannot predict with certainty which of these various opportunities will ultimately be utilized.

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared using accounting principles applicable to a going concern, which assumes realization
of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company incurred losses of $15.9 million, $14.4 million and $15.9 million for
the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The Company had working capital of $4.6 million and availability of $5 million on its
working capital revolver at December 31, 2010, and used cash in operations of $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2010. Currently, the
Company’s sole focus is the development of its land and water assets.
In June 2006, the Company raised $36.4 million through the private placement of a five year zero coupon convertible term loan with Peloton Partners
LLP (“Peloton”), as administrative agent, and an affiliate of Peloton and another investor, as lenders (the “Term Loan”). The proceeds of the new term loan
were partially used to repay the Company’s prior term loan facility with ING Capital LLC (“ING”). On April 16, 2008, the Company was advised that
Peloton’s interest in the Term Loan had been assigned to an affiliate of Lampe, Conway & Company LLC (“Lampe Conway”), and Lampe Conway
subsequently replaced Peloton as administrative agent of the loan. On June 4, 2009, the Company completed arrangements to amend the Term Loan as to
certain of its conversion features and extend its maturity to June of 2013. This facility was further modified as to certain of its conversion features on October
19, 2010, in connection with a new $10 million working capital facility with the existing lenders.

In November and December 2008, the Company raised $5.2 million with a private placement of 165,000 Units at $31.50 per unit. Each unit
consists of three (3) shares of the Company’s common stock and two (2) stock purchase warrants. The first warrant entitled the holder to purchase one (1)
share of common stock at an exercise price of $12.50 per share. On November 17, 2009, the exercise price of this Callable Warrant was temporarily reduced
to $10.50 per share. In response, holders of 162,849 warrants exercised their warrants, resulting in our issuance of 162,849 shares of common stock with
net proceeds of $1,709,915. The remaining 2,151 warrants were cancelled. The second warrant entitles the holder to purchase one (1) share of common
stock at an exercise price of $12.50 per share. This warrant has a term of three years and is not callable by us.
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In October and November 2009, the Company raised $7.1 million with a private placement of 226,200 Units at $31.50 per Unit. This includes
20,880 Units purchased by the Lenders of the Term Loan pursuant to the Lenders’ Participation Rights under the Term Loan. Each Unit consists of three (3)
shares of the Company’s common stock and one (1) stock purchase warrant. The warrant entitles the holder to purchase one (1) share of common stock at an
exercise price of $15.00 per share. The warrant has a term of three (3) years, but is callable by the Company at any time following November 1, 2010, if the
closing market price of the Company’s common stock exceeds $22.50 for 10 consecutive trading days.
The Company’s current resources do not provide the capital necessary to fund a water development project should the Company be required to do
so. There is no assurance that additional financing (public or private) will be available on acceptable terms or at all. If the Company issues additional equity
or equity linked securities to raise funds, the ownership percentage of the Company’s existing stockholders would be reduced. New investors may demand
rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of existing holders of common stock. If the Company cannot raise needed funds, it might be forced to make
further substantial reductions in its operating expenses, which could adversely affect its ability to implement its current business plan and ultimately its
viability as a company.

The proceeds from the $10 million working capital facility entered into in October 2010, see Note 6, "Long-Term Debt", provide the Company with
sufficient funds to meet expected working capital needs for the next 12 months. Within the next 12 months the Company will need to identify financing for its
2012 working capital needs. If the Company is unable to generate this from its current development activities, then it will need to seek additional equity
financing in the capital markets.

Principles of Consolidation
In December 2003, the Company transferred substantially all of its assets (with the exception of an office sublease, certain office furniture and
equipment and any Sun World related assets) to Cadiz Real Estate LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Cadiz Real Estate”). The Company holds
100% of the equity interests of Cadiz Real Estate, and therefore continues to hold 100% beneficial ownership of the properties that it transferred to Cadiz Real
Estate. Because the transfer of the Company’s properties to Cadiz Real Estate has no effect on its ultimate beneficial ownership of these properties, the
properties owned of record either by Cadiz Real Estate or by the Company are treated as belonging to the Company.

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. In preparing these financial statements, management has made estimates with
regard to goodwill and other long-lived assets, stock compensation and deferred tax assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

49

Source: CADIZ INC, 10-K, March 16, 2011

Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠

The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes crop sale revenue upon shipment and transfer of title to customers.

Stock-Based Compensation
General and administrative expenses include $4.0 million, $2.3 million and $4.4 million of stock based compensation expenses in the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
The fair value of each option granted to employees and directors is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The Company applies the Black-Scholes valuation model in determining the fair value of share-based payments to employees, which is then
amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.
ASC 718 also requires the Company to estimate forfeitures in calculating the expense related to stock-based compensation as opposed to only
recognizing these forfeitures and the corresponding reduction in expense as they occur. The remaining vesting periods are relatively short, and the potential
impact of forfeitures is not material. The Company is in a tax loss carryforward position and is not expected to realize a benefit from any additional
compensation expense recognized under ASC 718. See Note 7, “Income Taxes".

Net Loss Per Common Share
Basic Earnings Per Share (EPS) is computed by dividing the net loss, after deduction for preferred dividends either accrued or imputed, if any, by
the weighted-average common shares outstanding. Options, deferred stock units, warrants, participating and redeemable preferred stock and the zero coupon
term loan convertible into or exercisable for certain shares of the Company’s common stock were not considered in the computation of diluted EPS because
their inclusion would have been antidilutive. Had these instruments been included, the fully diluted weighted average shares outstanding would have increased
by approximately 2,423,000 shares, 2,420,000 shares and 2,372,000 shares for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company invests its
excess cash in deposits with major international banks and government agency notes and, therefore, bears minimal risk. Such investments are stated at cost,
which approximates fair value, and are considered cash equivalents for purposes of reporting cash flows.
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Property, Plant, Equipment and Water Programs
Property, plant, equipment and water programs are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, generally ten to forty-five years for land improvements and buildings and five to fifteen years for machinery and equipment. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the term of the relevant lease agreement or the estimated useful life of the asset.

Water rights and water storage and supply programs are stated at cost. Certain costs directly attributable to the development of such programs have
been capitalized by the Company. These costs, which are expected to be recovered through future revenues, consist of direct labor, drilling costs, consulting
fees for various engineering, hydrological, environmental and feasibility studies, and other professional and legal fees.

Goodwill and Other Assets
As a result of a merger in May 1988 between two companies which eventually became known as Cadiz Inc., goodwill in the amount of $7,006,000
was recorded. Approximately $3,193,000 of this amount was amortized prior to the adoption of ASC 350 on January 1, 2002. Since the adoption of ASC
350, there have been no historical goodwill impairments recorded.

Amounts
(in thousands)

$

Balance at December 31, 2008
Adjustments

3,813
-

3,813

Balance at December 31, 2009
Adjustments

-

$

Balance at December 31, 2010

3,813

Deferred loan costs represent costs incurred to obtain debt financing. Such costs are amortized over the life of the related loan. At December 31,
2010, the deferred loan fees relate to the zero coupon secured convertible term loan with Lampe Conway, as described in Note 6, “Long-Term Debt”.

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets
The Company assesses long-lived assets, excluding goodwill, for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying value may not be recoverable through the estimated undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the assets. If it is determined that the
carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable, the impairment is measured by using the projected discounted cash-flow method. The Company
reevaluates the carrying value of its water program annually.
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The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually as of December 31st, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate carrying values
may not be recoverable, using the projected discounted cash-flow method.
The Company uses a two-step impairment test to identify potential goodwill impairment and measure the amount of a goodwill impairment loss to be
recognized (if any) for the Company. The step 1 calculation, used to identify potential impairment, compares the estimated fair value of the Company to its
net carrying value (book values), including goodwill, on the measurement date. If the fair value of the Company is less than its carrying value, step 2 of the
impairment test is required to measure the amount of the impairment loss (if any).
The step 2 calculation of the impairment test compares the implied fair value of the goodwill to the carrying value of goodwill. The implied fair value
of goodwill represents the excess of the estimated fair value above the fair value of the Company's identified assets and liabilities. If the carrying value of
goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess (not to exceed the carrying value of
goodwill). The determination of the fair value of its assets and liabilities is performed as of the measurement date using observable market data before and
after the measurement date (if that subsequent information is relevant to the fair value on the measurement date).

Income Taxes
Income taxes are provided for using an asset and liability approach which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected
future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities at the applicable enacted tax rates. A
valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Financial assets with carrying values approximating fair value include cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. Financial liabilities with
carrying values approximating fair value include accounts payable and accrued liabilities due to their short-term nature. The carrying value of the Company's
debt approximates fair value, based on interest rates available to the Company for debt with similar terms. See Note 6, “Long-Term Debt”, for discussion of
fair value of debt.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
No cash payments, including interest, are due on the loan with Lampe Conway prior to the June 29, 2013, final maturity date.

The Company recorded non-cash additions to fixed assets of $1,276,000 and $1,166,000 at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, which
were accrued at the respective year ends, for the costs directly attributable to the development of the Water Project. The Company also recorded non-cash
additions to other assets of $105,000, which were accrued at year end, for outside legal expenses and lenders fees related to the negotiation and documentation
of the Term Loan.
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Cash payments for income taxes were $6,400, $4,000, and $6,400 in the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment to the accounting and disclosure requirements for transfers of
financial assets. This amendment requires greater transparency and additional disclosures for transfers of financial assets and the entity’s continuing
involvement with them and changes the requirements for derecognizing financial assets. In addition, this amendment eliminates the concept of a qualifying
special-purpose entity (QSPE). This amendment is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2009. The
Company adopted this accounting guidance on January 1, 2010. The adoption of this new accounting guidance had no impact to the Company's consolidated
results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board also issued an amendment to the accounting and disclosure requirements for the
consolidation of variable interest entities (VIEs). The elimination of the concept of a QSPE, as discussed above, removes the exception from applying the
consolidation guidance within this amendment. This amendment requires an enterprise to perform a qualitative analysis when determining whether or not it
must consolidate a VIE. The amendment also requires an enterprise to continuously reassess whether it must consolidate a VIE. Additionally, the amendment
requires enhanced disclosures about an enterprise’s involvement with VIEs and any significant change in risk exposure due to that involvement, as well as
how its involvement with VIEs impacts the enterprise’s financial statements. Finally, an enterprise will be required to disclose significant judgments and
assumptions used to determine whether or not to consolidate a VIE. This amendment is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2009. The Company adopted this accounting guidance on January 1, 2010. The adoption of this new accounting guidance had no
impact to the Company's consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
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NOTE 3 – PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND WATER PROGRAMS
Property, plant, equipment and water programs consist of the following (dollars in thousands):

December 31,
2010

$

Land and land improvements
Water programs
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Machinery and equipment
Construction in progress

2009

23,680 $
15,496
1,180
570

23,050
14,274
1,161
570
421
915

442

950
163
42,481
(4,166)

Less accumulated depreciation

$

44

40,435
(3,822)

38,315 $

36,613

Depreciation expense during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was approximately $344,000, $342,000, and $341,000.

NOTE 4 – OTHER ASSETS
Other assets consist of the following (dollars in thousands):

December 31,
2010

$

Deferred loan costs, net
Prepaid rent
Security deposits

2009

251 $
-

$

70
321 $

188
32

258
478

Deferred loan costs consist of legal and other fees incurred to obtain debt financing. Amortization of deferred loan costs was approximately $42,000,
$56,000, and $77,000 in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Prepaid rent consists of rental and other fees incurred to obtain the right-of-way for the Cadiz
Project water conveyance pipeline, as discussed in Note 1, “Description of Business”. Amortization of prepaid rent was approximately $32,000 and $194,000
in 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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NOTE 5 – ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities consist of the following (dollars in thousands):

December 31,
2010

$

Payroll, bonus, and benefits
Well-field, environmental studies, legal and consulting
Deferred rent
Other accrued expenses

$

2009

114 $
1,215
59

54
365

130

262
829

148

1,518 $

NOTE 6 – LONG-TERM DEBT
At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the carrying amount of the Company’s outstanding debt is summarized as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,
Zero coupon secured convertible term loan due
June 29, 2013. Interest accruing at 5% per
annum until June 29, 2009 and at 6% thereafter
Other loans
Debt discount

$

2010

2009

51,412 $

43,632

20
(7,013 )

40

(6,987 )
36,685

44,419

16

Less current portion

$

20

44,403 $

36,665

The Company estimates fair value of debt to be $45,047
Pursuant to the Company’s loan agreements, annual maturities of long-term debt outstanding on December 31, 2010, are as follows:

$

Year

000’s

2011
2012

16

2013

51,412
51,432

4

$

In June 2006, the Company entered into a $36.4 million five year zero coupon convertible term loan with Peloton Partners LLP, as administrative
agent for the loan, and with an affiliate of Peloton and another investor, as lenders. Certain terms of the loan were subsequently amended pursuant to
Amendment #1 to the Credit Agreement, which was effective September 2006. On April 16, 2008, the Company was advised that Peloton had assigned its
interest in the loan to an affiliate of Lampe Conway & Company LLC (“Lampe Conway”), and Lampe Conway subsequently replace Peloton as
administrative agent of the loan (the “Term Loan”). On June 4, 2009, the Company completed arrangements to amend the Term Loan with Lampe Conway
which modified certain of the conversion features and extended the maturity date to June 29, 2013.
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On October 19, 2010, the Company entered into a new $10 million working capital facility with Lampe Conway and other participating lenders
(“the Lenders”). Under the terms of the new $10 million facility, the Company drew the first $5 million on the Closing Date (“First Tranche”). At the
Company’s option, it may draw up to an additional $5 million over the 12 months following the Closing Date (“Second Tranche”). All interest on
outstanding balances will accrue at 6%, with no principal or interest payments required before the new facility’s June 29, 2013 maturity date, consistent with
the Company’s existing term debt facility.

The First Tranche (including accrued interest) is convertible at any time into the Company’s common stock at a price of $13.50 per share and the
Second Tranche (including accrued interest), if drawn, would be convertible into the Company’s common stock at $12.50 per share.
Also on the Closing Date, the Company’s existing Term Loan with the Lenders was modified as to certain of its conversion features:

· $20.62 million of the existing convertible debt has been changed to allow for up to $2.5 million of this amount to be converted at any time
into the Company’s common stock at the price of $13.50 per share, with the remaining amount becoming non-convertible.

· If the Second Tranche is drawn, approximately $20 million of additional existing debt would be changed to allow for up to $5 million of

this amount to be converted at any time into the Company’s common stock at $12.50 per share, with the remaining amount becoming nonconvertible.

· The final $4.55 million of the existing debt continues to be convertible at $7 per share.
The Term Loan is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company, and contains representations, warranties and covenants that are typical for
agreements of this type, including restrictions that would limit the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, incur liens, pay dividends or make
restricted payments, dispose of assets, make investments and merge or consolidate with another person. However, while there are affirmative covenants, there
are no financial maintenance covenants and no restrictions on the Company’s ability to issue additional common stock to fund future working capital needs.
As a result of the modifications of the convertible debt arrangements in June 2009 and October 2010, the change in conversion value between the original and
modified instrument totaling approximately $3.2 million was recorded as additional debt discount with an offsetting amount recorded as additional paid-in
capital. Such debt discount is accreted to the redemption value of the instrument over the remaining term of the loan as additional interest expense. In
connection with the modification transaction in October 2010, the Company recorded a derivative liability related to the conversion option. This derivative
liability had a fair value of $451 thousand at December 31, 2010, and will be marked-to-market at the end of each reporting period and recorded as other
income (expense).
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The Company has analyzed all of the above provisions of the convertible loan and related agreements for embedded derivatives under generally
accepted accounting principles and SEC rules. The Company concluded that certain provisions of the convertible loan agreement, which were in effect prior
to the first amendment date, are deemed to be derivatives. Therefore, these embedded instruments were bifurcated from the host debt instrument and classified
as a liability in the Company’s financial statements. The Company prepared valuations for each of the deemed derivatives using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model and recorded a liability of approximately $12.2 million on the June 30, 2006 loan funding date, with an offsetting discount to the convertible
term loan.

On June 30, 2006, the derivative liability was classified and recorded as part of long-term debt in the balance sheet. The debt discount will be
amortized to interest expense over the life of the loan using the effective interest amortization method. The principal valuation assumptions are as follows:

$36.4 million
5 years
$17.01
46%
5.18%

Loan balance available for conversion:
Expected term:
Cadiz common share price:
Volatility:
Risk-free Interest Rate:
Change in control probability:

10%

The Company incurred $408,000 and $105,000 in 2006 and 2010, respectively, of outside legal expenses and lenders fees related to the negotiation
and documentation of the loan, which will be amortized over the life of the loan.

At December 31, 2010, the Company was in compliance with its debt covenants under the Term Loan.
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NOTE 7 – INCOME TAXES
Deferred taxes are recorded based upon differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities and available
carryforwards. Temporary differences and carryforwards which gave rise to a significant portion of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31,
2010 and 2009, are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2010

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating losses
Fixed asset basis difference
Contributions carryover
Deferred compensation
Accrued liabilities

$

Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

$

Net deferred tax asset

2009

40,864 $
7,213
1
1,700
534

38,573
7,262
1
1,260
253

50,312

47,350

(50,312)

(47,350)

-

$

-

The valuation allowance increased $2,962,000 and $950,000 in 2010 and 2009, respectively, due to an increase in the net operating loss category of deferred
tax assets. The change in deferred tax assets resulted from current year net operating losses, expiration of prior year loss carryovers, and changes to future tax
deductions resulting from terms of stock compensation plans.
As of December 31, 2010, the Company had net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards of approximately $104.2 million for federal income tax
purposes and $61.5 million for California income tax purposes. Such carryforwards expire in varying amounts through the year 2030. Use of the
carryforward amounts is subject to an annual limitation as a result of ownership changes.

On August 26, 2005, a Settlement Agreement between Cadiz, on the one hand, and Sun World and three of Sun World’s subsidiaries, on the other
hand, was approved by the U.S. Bankruptcy Court, concurrently with the Court’s confirmation of the amended Plan. The Settlement Agreement provides
that following the September 6, 2005 effective date of Sun World’s plan of reorganization, Cadiz will retain the right to utilize the Sun World net operating loss
carryovers (NOLs). Sun World Federal NOLs are estimated to be approximately $58 million. If, in any year from calendar year 2005 through calendar year
2011, the utilization of such NOLs results in a reduction of Cadiz’ tax liability for such year, then Cadiz will pay to the Sun World bankruptcy estate 25%
of the amount of such reduction, and shall retain the remaining 75% for its own benefit. There is no requirement that Cadiz utilize these NOLs during this
reimbursement period, or provide any reimbursement to the Sun World bankruptcy estate for any NOLs used by Cadiz after this reimbursement period
expires.
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As of the January 1, 2007, adoption of ASC 740, the Company possessed unrecognized tax benefits totaling approximately $3.3 million. There were
no changes to unrecognized tax benefits during the 36 months ended December 31, 2010.
None of these tax benefits, if recognized, would affect the Company's effective tax rate because the Company has recorded a full valuation allowance
against these assets. Additionally, as of December 31, 2010, the Company had accrued a total of $321,000 for state taxes, interest and penalties related to
income tax positions in prior returns. In connection with the adoption of ASC 740, the Company elected to classify income tax penalties and interest as general
and administrative and interest expenses, respectively. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2010, general and administrative and interest expenses
included approximately $0 of income tax penalties.
The Company does not expect that the unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease in the next 12 months.

The Company's tax years 2007 through 2010 remain subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service, and tax years 2006 through 2010
remain subject to examination by California tax jurisdictions. In addition, the Company's loss carryforward amounts are generally subject to examination and
adjustment for a period of three years for federal tax purposes and four years for California purposes, beginning when such carryovers are utilized to reduce
taxes in a future tax year.
A reconciliation of the income tax benefit to the statutory federal income tax rate is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2010

$

Expected federal income tax benefit at 34%
Loss with no tax benefit provided
State income tax

Stock Options
Non-deductible expenses and other

$

Income tax expense

2009

(5,405) $
4,545
6
154
706
6 $

2008

(4,895) $
3,751
4

462
682
4

(5,379)
4,492
6
86
801

$

6

Because it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize its net deferred tax assets, it has recorded a full valuation allowance against these
assets. Accordingly, no deferred tax asset has been recorded in the accompanying balance sheet.

NOTE 8 – EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
The Company has a 401(k) Plan for its salaried employees. The Company matches 100% of the first three percent of annual base salary and 50% of
the next two percent of annual base salary contributed by an employee to the plan. The Company contributed approximately $49,000, $42,000, and $47,000
to the plans for fiscal years 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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NOTE 9 – COMMON STOCK AND WARRANTS
On October 1, 2007, the Company agreed to the conditional issuance of up to 300,000 shares to the former sole shareholder and successor in interest
to Exploration Research Associates, Inc. (“ERA”), who is now an employee of Cadiz. The agreement settled certain claims by ERA against the Company, and
provided that the 300,000 shares will be issued if and when certain significant milestones in the development of the Company’s properties are achieved.

In November 2008, the Company arranged for certain legal and advisory services including interim payments due upon completion of specified
milestones with respect to the Water Project, with the fee payable in cash and/or stock. The first such milestone was satisfied on June 4, 2009, resulting in an
obligation by the Company to pay a fee of $500,000, for which the parties agreed to payment in the form of 59,312 shares of the Company’s common stock
valued at $8.43 per share, reflecting the fair market value of the stock on June 4, 2009.

A private placement was completed by the Company in November and December of 2008 of 165,000 Units at the price of $31.50 per unit for
proceeds of $5,197,500. Each Unit consists of three (3) shares of the Company’s common stock and two (2) common stock purchase warrants. The first
warrant entitles the holder to purchase one (1) share of common stock at an exercise price of $12.50 per share. On November 17, 2009, the exercise price of
this Callable Warrant was temporarily reduced to $10.50 per share in an effort to induce warrant holders to purchase additional shares to provide additional
sources of financing for the Company’s on-going projects and operating costs. In response to the inducement, holders of 162,849 warrants exercised their
warrants, resulting in our issuance of 162,849 shares of common stock with net proceeds of $1,709,915. The fair value of the inducement was an
immaterial amount that did not impact losses applicable to the common shareholders in the calculation of earnings per share. The remaining 2,151 warrants
were cancelled. The second warrant entitles the holder to purchase one (1) share of common stock at an exercise price of $12.50 per share. This warrant has
a term of three years and is not callable by the Company.

In October and November 2009, the Company raised $7.1 million with a private placement of 226,200 Units at $31.50 per Unit. This includes
20,880 Units purchased by the Lenders of the Term Loan pursuant to the Lenders’ Participation Rights under the Term Loan. Each Unit consists of three (3)
shares of the Company’s common stock and one (1) stock purchase warrant. The warrant entitles the holder to purchase one (1) share of common stock at an
exercise price of $15.00 per share. The warrant has a term of three (3) years, but is callable by the Company at any time following November 1, 2010 if the
closing market price of the Company’s common stock exceeds $22.50 for 10 consecutive trading days.
As discussed in Note 6, “Long-Term Debt”, principal and accrued interest on the Term Loan is convertible into common shares of the Company at
the Lender’s option. The terms of the loan include optional prepayment provisions that could result in an early conversion of the loan under certain
circumstances.
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NOTE 10 – STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS AND WARRANTS
The Company has issued options and has granted stock awards pursuant to its 2003 Management Equity Incentive Plan, 2007 Management Equity
Incentive Plan, and 2009 Equity Incentive Plan. The Company also has granted stock awards pursuant to its 2009 Equity Incentive Plan and Outside
Director Compensation Plan, as described below.

2003 Management Equity Incentive Plan
In December 2003, concurrently with the completion of the Company’s then current financing arrangements with ING, the Company’s board of
directors authorized the adoption of a Management Equity Incentive Plan. Under the Incentive Plan, a total of 1,472,051 shares of common stock and
common stock options were granted to key personnel. As of December 31, 2010, a total of 315,000 common stock options remain outstanding under this
plan.

Outside Director Compensation Plan
The Cadiz Inc. Outside Director Compensation Plan was approved by Cadiz shareholders in November 2006. Under the plan, each outside director
receives $30,000 of cash compensation and receives a deferred stock award consisting of shares of the Company’s common stock with a value equal to
$20,000 on June 30th of each year. The award accrues on a quarterly basis, with $7,500 of cash compensation and $5,000 of stock earned for each fiscal
quarter in which a director serves. The deferred stock award vests automatically on the January 31 st which first follows the award date.

2007 Management Equity Incentive Plan
The 2007 Management Equity Incentive Plan was approved by stockholders at the 2007 Annual Meeting. The plan provides for the grant and
issuance of up to 1,050,000 shares and options to the Company’s employees and consultants. The plan became effective when the Company filed a
registration statement on Form S-8 on July 25, 2007. As of December 31, 2010, a total 10,000 common stock options remain outstanding under this plan.

2009 Equity Incentive Plan
The 2009 Equity Incentive Plan was approved by stockholders at the 2009, Annual Meeting. The plan provides for the grant and issuance of up to 850,000
shares and options to the Company’s employees and consultants. The plan became effective when the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-8 on
December 18, 2009.
In January and February 2010, the Company granted a total of 402,500 options for the purchase of one share of common stock under the 2009
Equity Incentive Plan. The options have strike prices that are at or slightly above the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date that the
grants became effective. The options have a ten year term with vesting periods ranging from issuance date to 24 months, and all remained outstanding as of
December 31, 2010.
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All options that have been issued under the above plans have been issued to officers and employees of the Company. In total, options to purchase
727,500 shares were unexercised and outstanding on December 31, 2010, under the three equity incentive plans.

The fair value of each option granted under both plans was estimated on the date of grant using the Black Scholes option pricing model based on the
following weighted-average assumptions:

3.98%
9.5 years
52%

Risk free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
Weighted average vesting period

0.0%

0.9 years

The risk free interest rate was assumed to be equal to the yield of a U.S. Treasury bond of comparable maturity, as published in the Federal Reserve
Statistical Release for the relevant date. The expected life estimate is based on an analysis of the employees receiving option grants and the expected behavior of
each employee. The expected volatility was derived from an analysis of the historical volatility of the trading price per share of the Company’s common stock
on the NASDAQ Global Market. The Company does not anticipate that it will pay dividends to common shareholders in the future, and the weighted average
vesting period is based on the option vesting schedule, assuming no options are forfeit prior to the initial vesting date.

The Company recognized stock option related compensation costs of $2,561,000, $0 and $82,000 in fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively,
relating to these options. No stock options were exercised during fiscal 2010.
A summary of option activity under the plans as of December 31, 2010, and changes during the current fiscal year are presented below:

Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term

Weighted-

Average
Options

Outstanding January 1, 2010
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2010

Exercisable at December 31, 2010

Exercise
Price

Shares
325,000 $
402,500

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
($000’s)

$

3,359
3,078

12.31
11.51

9.0

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

727,500 $
495,169 $

11.86
12.07

4.4

5.7 $
7.0 $

6,437
4,385

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2010, and 2008 were $7.65 and $11.18 per
share, respectively. The following table summarizes stock option activity for the periods noted.
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Weighted-

Average
Amount

Exercise Price

$
$
$
$

13.06
18.99

$
$
$

12.85

Outstanding at January 1, 2008
Granted
Expired or canceled
Exercised

375,000
10,000
(20,000)

Outstanding at December 31, 2008
Granted
Expired or canceled
Exercised

365,000

Outstanding at December 31, 2009
Granted
Expired or canceled
Exercised

325,000
402,500

Outstanding at December 31, 2010

727,500 (a) $

-

-

(40,000 )
-

Weighted-average years of remaining contractual life of
options outstanding at December 31, 2010

-

-

17.25
-

$
$

12.31
11.51

-

-

-

-

495,169

Options exercisable at December 31, 2010

20.00

$

11.86
12.07

5.7

(a) Exercise prices vary from $11.50 to $18.99, and expiration dates vary from May 2015 to February 2020.

Stock Awards to Directors, Officer, Consultants and Employees
The Company has granted stock awards pursuant to its 2007 Management Equity Incentive Plan, 2009 Equity Incentive Plan and Outside Director
Compensation Plan.
Of the total 1,050,000 shares reserved under the 2007 Management Equity Incentive Plan, a grant of 950,000 shares became effective on July 25,
2007. The grant consisted of two separate awards.

- A 150,000 share award that vests in three equal installments on January 1, 2008, January 1, 2009 and January 1, 2010. 150,000 shares have
been issued pursuant to this award as of December 31, 2010.
- 800,000 of the shares were designated as Milestone-Based Deferred Stock, none of which were ultimately issued. The shares were allocated for
issuance subject to the satisfaction of certain milestone conditions relating to the trading price of our common stock during the period
commencing March 13, 2007, and ending March 12, 2009. The milestone conditions were not satisfied by March 12, 2009, resulting in the
expiration of all 800,000 shares.
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Of the remaining 100,000 shares reserved under the 2007 Management Equity Incentive Plan, 10,000 were issued as options as described above, and
90,000 were issued as shares that vested in May 2009 consistent with the terms of the agreements pursuant to which those executives provide services to the
Company.

Of the total 850,000 shares reserved under the 2009 Equity Incentive Plan, a grant of 115,000 restricted shares of common stock became effective on
January 14, 2010, and a grant of 140,000 restricted shares of common stock became effective on January 10, 2011, consistent with the terms of the agreements
pursuant to which those executives provide services to the Company and which contemplate that such executives will participate in the Company’s long-term
incentive plans.
The recipients of these restricted shares have a contractual agreement not to sell any of these shares for a period of three years following the effective
date. Of the remaining 595,000 shares reserved under the 2009 Equity Incentive Plan, 402,500 were issued as options as described above and 192,500 are
available for future distribution.

Under the Outside Director Compensation Plan, 37,267 shares have been awarded for the plan years ended June 30, 2006, through June 30,
2010. Of the 37,267 shares awarded, 9,582 shares were awarded for service during the plan year ended June 30, 2010, became effective on that date, and
vested on January 31, 2011.
The compensation cost of stock grants without market conditions is measured at the quoted market price of the Company’s stock at the date of
grant. The fair value of the two 2007 Management Equity Incentive Plan awards with market conditions was calculated using a lattice model using the
following weighted average assumptions:
Risk free interest rate
4.74%
Current stock price
$19.74
Expected volatility
38%
Expected dividend yield
0.0%
Weighted average vesting period
2.0 years
The risk free interest rate was assumed to be equal to the yield of a U.S. Treasury bond of comparable maturity, as published in the Federal Reserve
Statistical Release for the relevant date. The current stock price is the closing price of the Company’s common stock quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market
on the grant date. The expected volatility was derived from an analysis of the historical volatility of the trading price per share of the Company’s common
stock on the NASDAQ Global Market. The Company does not anticipate that it will pay dividends in the future.
The lattice model calculates a derived service period, which is equal to the median period between the grant date and the date that the relevant market
conditions are satisfied. The derived service periods for the grants with $28 and $35 per share market conditions are 0.72 years and 1.01 years,
respectively. The weighted average vesting period is based on the latter of the derived service period and the scheduled vesting dates for each grant.
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The accompanying consolidated statements include approximately $480,000, $2,273,000, and $4,276,000 of stock based compensation expense
related to these stock awards in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
A summary of stock awards activity under the plans during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 is presented below:
Weighted-

Average
Grant-date
Fair Value

Shares

($000’s)

Nonvested at December 31, 2008
Granted
Forfeited or canceled
Vested

907,026 $
101,775
(800,000)
(147,026)

8,650
712
(6,556)
(1,706)

Nonvested at December 31, 2009
Granted
Forfeited or canceled
Vested

61,775 $
124,582

1,100
892

-

(176,775)
9,582 $

Nonvested at December 31, 2010

-

(1,876)
116

Stock Purchase Warrants Issued to Non-Employees
The Company accounts for equity securities issued to non-employees in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718 and ASC 505. A private
placement was completed by the Company in November and December of 2008 of 165,000 Units at the price of $31.50 per unit for proceeds of
$5,197,500. Each Unit consists of three (3) shares of the Company’s common stock and two (2) common stock purchase warrants. The first warrant
entitles the holder to purchase one (1) share of common stock at an exercise price of $12.50 per share. On November 17, 2009, the exercise price of this
Callable Warrant was temporarily reduced to $10.50 per share. In response, holders of 162,849 warrants exercised their warrants, resulting in our issuance
of 162,849 shares of common stock with net proceeds of $1,709,915. The remaining 2,151 warrants were cancelled. The second warrant entitles the
holder to purchase one (1) share of common stock at an exercise price of $12.50 per share. This warrant has a term of three years and is not callable by the
Company.

In October 2009, the Company raised $7.1 million with a private placement of 226,200 Units at $31.50 per Unit. This includes 20,880 Units
purchased by the Lenders of the Term Loan pursuant to the Lenders’ Participation Rights under the Term Loan. Each Unit consists of three (3) shares of the
Company’s common stock and one (1) stock purchase warrant. The warrant entitles the holder to purchase one (1) share of common stock at an exercise
price of $15.00 per share. The warrant has a term of three (3) years, but is callable by the Company at any time following November 1, 2010 if the closing
market price of the Company’s common stock exceeds $22.50 for 10 consecutive trading days.
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391,200 warrants remain outstanding as of December 31, 2010.

NOTE 11 – SEGMENT INFORMATION
The primary business of the Company is to acquire and develop land and water resources. As a result, the Company’s financial results are reported
in a single segment.

NOTE 12 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company leases equipment and office facilities under operating leases that expire through 2012. Aggregate rental expense under all operating
leases was approximately $371,000, $375,000, and $236,000 in the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. At December 31, 2010,
the future minimum rental commitments under existing non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

Year

$

2011
2012

000’s

322
270

2013

$

22
614

In the normal course of its agricultural operations, the Company handles, stores, transports and dispenses products identified as hazardous
materials. Regulatory agencies periodically conduct inspections and, currently, there are no pending claims with respect to hazardous materials.
The Company entered into a Services and Exclusivity Agreement with Layne Christensen Company (“Layne”) on November 2, 2009. The
agreement provides that the Company will contract exclusively with Layne for certain water related services, including drilling of boreholes, drilling of
monitoring wells, completion of test wells, completion of production wells, and completion of aquifer, storage and recovery wells. In exchange for the Services
and Exclusivity Agreement, Layne has agreed to forego $923,000 for work performed as of December 31, 2010.
Alternatively, if (a) the Company elects by December 31, 2012, not to proceed with the Cadiz Project, then it will pay Layne 100% of the $923,000
balance due for work performed as of December 31, 2010, or (b) the Company elects by December 31, 2012, to proceed with the Cadiz Project and in its
reasonable discretion decides not to use Layne as the exclusive provider of services for the well field the Company will pay Layne 125% of the $923,000
balance due for work performed as of December 31, 2010.
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As previously reported, the Company has a potential obligation to pay an amount of up to 1% of the net present value of the Water Project in
consideration of certain legal and advisory services to be provided to the Company by Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck LLP. The primary services being
provided are advising the Company as to Water Project design and implementation, permit approvals, environmental compliance, negotiation and drafting of
agreements related to the Water Project. This fee would be payable upon receipt of all environmental approvals and permits and the completion of binding
agreements for at least 51% of the Water Project’s annual capacity. A portion of this fee may be payable in stock. Interim payments of $1.5 million, to be
credited to the final total, would be made upon the achievement of certain specified milestones. $500 thousand of these interim payments was earned in June
2009 in consideration for the legal and advisory services previously provided. No further milestones have been met as of December 31, 2010. This
arrangement may be terminated by either party upon 60 days notice, with any compensation earned but unpaid prior to termination payable following
termination.
The Company is involved in other legal and administrative proceedings and claims. In the opinion of management, the ultimate outcome of each
proceeding or all such proceedings combined will not have a material adverse impact on the Company's financial statements.

NOTE 13 – QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED )

(in thousands except per share data)
March 31,

June 30,
2010

2010
Revenues
Operating loss
Net loss applicable to common stock
Basic and diluted net loss per common

$

share

$

3

$

4

(4,173)

$

share

$

$

(0.38) $

June 30,

2009

2009

2010

$

(2,696)
(4,369)

(0.23) $

Quarter Ended
September 30,

19 $
(3,245)
(4,386)

(0.27) $

(0.35) $

(0.32)

December 31,

2009

29 $
(2,210)
(3,395)

742

(2,086)
(3,179)

(0.23) $

March 31,

December 31,

274

(2,094)
(3,144)

(5,207)

Revenues
Operating loss
Net loss applicable to common stock
Basic and diluted net loss per common

Quarter Ended
September 30,
2010

2009

$

622
(2,469)
(3,484)

(0.25) $

(0.26)

138

(2,157)
(3,134)

For the quarter ended December 31, 2010, stock based compensation of $0.3 million expense, net of tax, was recorded that related to prior
periods. Management has determined that the effect of recognizing these adjustments was not material to the results of operations for the three months ended
December 31, 2010, or for any prior periods.
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NOTE 14 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The following table presents information about our assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2010
and 2009, and indicate the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques we utilized to determine such fair value. In general, fair values determined by
Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. We consider a security that trades at least weekly to have
an active market. Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs utilize data points that are observable, such as quoted prices, interest rates and yield curves. Fair
values determined by Level 3 inputs are unobservable data points for the asset or liability, and include situations where there is little, if any, market activity
for the asset or liability.
Investments at Fair Value as of December 31, 2010
(in thousands)
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total

Assets
Certificates of Deposit

Total Assets

$

5,500

$

-

$

-

$

5,500

$

5,500

$

-

$

-

$

5,500

$

-

$

(451) $

-

$

(451)

$

-

$

(451) $

-

$

(451)

$

5,500

$

(451) $

-

$

Liabilities
Derivative

Total Liabilities
Net Total Assets and (Liabilities)

(in thousands)

Investments at Fair Value as of December 31, 2009
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

5,049

Total

Certificates of Deposit

$

6,400

$

-

$

-

$

6,400

Total investments at fair value

$

6,400

$

-

$

-

$

6,400

NOTE 15 – SUBSEQUENT EVENT
In January and February 2011, the Company granted 140,000 shares of common stock and options to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock to employees
under the 2009 Equity Incentive Plan.
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CADIZ INC.
SCHEDULE 1 - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 ($ in thousands)
Balance at
Year ended
December 31, 2010
Tax valuation allowance

Additions Charged to
Costs and
Other
Expenses
Accounts

Beginning
of Period

Balance
at End
of Period

Deductions

$

47,350

$

2,962

$

-

$

-

$

50,312

$

46,400

$

950

$

-

$

-

$

47,350

$

42,180

$

4,220

$

-

$

-

$

46,400

Year ended
December 31, 2009
Tax valuation allowance

Year ended
December 31, 2008
Tax valuation allowance
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereto duly authorized.

CADIZ INC.
By:

/s/ Keith Brackpool
Keith Brackpool,
Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer

Date:

March 16, 2011

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Name and Position

Date

/s/ Keith Brackpool
Keith Brackpool, Chairman and

March 16, 2011

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Timothy J. Shaheen
Timothy J. Shaheen, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 16, 2011

/s/ Stephen J. Duffy
Stephen J. Duffy, Director

March 16, 2011

/s/ Geoffrey Grant
Geoffrey Grant, Director

March 16, 2011

/s/ Winston H. Hickox
Winston H. Hickox, Director

March 16, 2011

/s/ Murray H. Hutchison
Murray H. Hutchison, Director

March 16, 2011

/s/ Raymond J. Pacini
Raymond J. Pacini, Director

March 16, 2011

/s/ Stephen E. Courter
Stephen E. Courter, Director

March 16, 2011
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EXHIBIT 10.24

AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO
SERVICES AND EXCLUSIVITY AGREEMENT
This Amendment No. 3 to Services and Exclusivity Agreement (“ Amendment No. 3 ”) is made and entered into as of April 8, 2010, by and between
LAYNE CHRISTENSEN COMPANY, a Delaware corporation (“Layne”) and CADIZ INC., a Delaware corporation (“ Cadiz”), (each a “ Party” and
collectively the “Parties”).

RECITALS
A. The Parties signed that certain Services and Exclusivity Agreement dated as of November 2, 2009 (“ Original Agreement ”);

B. On or about January 4, 2010, the Parties signed that certain Amendment No. 1 to Services and Exclusivity Agreement (“ Amendment No. 1 ”);
C. On or about January 18, 2010, the Parties signed that certain Amendment No. 2 to the Services and Exclusivity Agreement (“ Amendment No. 2 ”);
D. The Parties desire to confirm the services performed by Layne and the amount of payment owed to layne for work with respect to the TW-3 Well (“ TW-3
Well”);

E. The Original Agreement, as amended by Amendment No. 1 and Amendment No. 2 may hereafter by referred to as the “ Agreement”.
AGREEMENT
NOW THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Amendment . The Agreement is hereby modified and amended by this Amendment No. 3. Except as expressly modified herein, the Agreement continues in
full force and effect. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings given in the Agreement.

2. Conversion to Monitoring Well. The Parties agree that the TW-3 Well has been completed as a test well. Layne subsequently converted the TW-3 Well into
a monitoring well, including 500’ of 2” blank well casing with 20’ of screen (total depth 520’), including gravel pack, seal and protective monument.

3. Payment of TW-3 Well. Attached as Exhibit A is the TW-3 Core Drilling & Precollar Installation statement for the TW-3 Well. Attached as Exhibit B is
the TW-3 Packer Testing & Complete a 2” Monitoring Well statement for the TW-3 Well. The full and final payment for the TW-3 Well is $205,780.
Payment will be made in accordance with Section 3 of Amendment No. 2; provided however, the Parties agree that the Initial Payment is $82,312 and the
Remaining Payment is $123,468.

4. Execution in Counterparts . This Amendment No. 3 may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Parties have set forth their signatures as of the date first written above.

CADIZ INC.

LAYNE CHRISTENSEN COMPANY

/s/ Scott S. Slater
Scott S. Slater
General Counsel

/s/ Doug Watson
By: Doug Watson
Its: General Counsel
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EXHIBIT 10.25

ADDENDUM TO CONSULTING AGREEMENT
This ADDENDUM TO CONSULTING AGREEMENT (“Addendum”) is entered into effective as of January 1, 2011 among Cadiz Inc., a Delaware
corporation (“ Cadiz”) and Richard E. Stoddard (“ Stoddard or Consultant ”). The parties to this Addendum are hereinafter sometimes referred to collectively as
the "Parties".

RECITALS:
WHEREAS, the Parties have entered into a Consulting Agreement effective as of August 1, 2002, as modified effective as of January 1, 2004 and as further
modified effective January 1, 2007 (the "Agreement"); and
WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Agreement with respect to the term of the Agreement and Consultant's compensation;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals, the promises and the mutual representations, warranties, covenants and agreements herein
contained, the Parties hereby agree as follows. Defined terms used herein shall, if not otherwise defined in this Addendum, have the same meaning as set forth
in the Agreement.

1.
Term. Except as otherwise provided in Section 9 of the Agreement, this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect through December
31, 2011, and shall continue thereafter unless and until terminated by Cadiz upon not less than ninety (90) days’ prior notice to Consultant.
2.

Compensation . Effective from and after January 1, 2011, Consultant shall be paid cash compensation in a monthly amount equal to

3.

Reimbursement of Expenses . Section 5 of the Agreement is hereby revised to read in its entirety as follows:

$12,500.

“5.
REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES. Cadiz will reimburse Consultant during the Term for any appropriately documented,
reasonable and necessary travel and other business expenses incurred by Consultant in the course of providing services pursuant to this
Agreement, subject to and consistent with Cadiz’ expense reimbursement policies and procedures as in effect from time to time.

4.
Existing Agreement . Except as otherwise amended or modified herein or hereby, the provisions of the Agreement are hereby reaffirmed and shall
remain in full force and effect.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Addendum to be duly executed and delivered by their proper and duly
authorized officers as of the day and year first above written.

CADIZ INC.

STODDARD

By: /s/ Keith Brackpool
Keith Brackpool, CEO

By: /s/ Richard E. Stoddard
Richard E. Stoddard

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED

By: /s/ Murray H. Hutchison
Murray H. Hutchison
Chair, Compensation Committee
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EXHIBIT 21.1

CADIZ INC.
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Cadiz Real Estate LLC
Rancho Cadiz Mutual Water Company
SWI Estate, Inc.
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-156502, 333-163321, 333-136117, 333-126117, 333130338, and 333-171179), and Form S-8 (No. 333-163823, 333-144862, 333-124626, and 333-138674) of Cadiz Inc. of our report dated March 16, 2011
relating to the financial statements, financial statement schedule, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form
10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Los Angeles, California

March 16, 2011
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Keith Brackpool, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cadiz Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonable likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Dated: March 16, 2011
/s/ Keith Brackpool
Keith Brackpool
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Timothy J. Shaheen, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cadiz Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonable likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Dated: March 16, 2011
/s/ Timothy J. Shaheen
Timothy J. Shaheen
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
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EXHIBIT 32.1
STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Keith Brackpool, herby certify, to my knowledge, that:
1. the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cadiz Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2010 (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Cadiz Inc.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Statement as of the date first written above.

Dated: March 16, 2011

/s/ Keith Brackpool
Keith Brackpool
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.2
STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Timothy J. Shaheen, herby certify, to my knowledge, that:
1. the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cadiz Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2010 (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Cadiz Inc.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Statement as of the date first written above.

Dated: March 16, 2011
/s/ Timothy J. Shaheen
Timothy J. Shaheen
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
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